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 1 Thursday, 25 November 2010

 2 (10.00 am)

 3 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Mr Keith?

 4 MR KEITH: My Lady, may I raise one matter which arises out

 5 of matters raised yesterday by Ms Gallagher? My Lady

 6 will recall, of course, that yesterday I called

 7 Mr Wilson to deal with relevant issues arising out of

 8 the examination of the Edgware Road scene.

 9 I made it plain, in the course of calling Mr Wilson,

10 that there were matters that were outside scope and in

11 accordance with your ruling of earlier this year, but

12 Ms Gallagher proceeded to raise issues of concern to

13 those whom she represents in relation to matters which

14 have been addressed in the Metropolitan Police ancillary

15 report and, in the course of her submissions, she

16 observed that some of her clients felt that there were

17 a number of unanswered questions which gave rise to

18 a certain inference that questions had been posed and

19 had not been answered by the Metropolitan Police.

20 I think it's important that I correct that erroneous

21 impression, because the position is this: that Mr Smith

22 sent an email to all the interested persons on 21 May

23 asking all of them to raise with him, pursuant to your

24 order, all the ancillary issues that they wished to

25 raise by no later than 4.00 pm on 18 June. No response
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 1 was received from Mr Tibber within that deadline on

 2 behalf of those whom he represents and a further

 3 reminder was sent on 21 June.

 4 He did raise with Mr Smith certain difficulties he

 5 was having in taking instructions, but was confident

 6 that he would be able to complete that process certainly

 7 by the end of August.

 8 He didn't, however, lodge any issues with Mr Smith

 9 until 8 September, by which time preparation for the

10 report was well-advanced and, in those circumstances,

11 Mr Smith wrote to Mr Tibber pointing out that it would

12 be too late for those matters to be taken into account

13 for the purposes of that report.

14 Subsequently, a further list of issues was forwarded

15 by Mr Tibber on behalf of the Downey family, but not

16 again until 13 September, and so, at that point,

17 Mr Smith observed that it may be better for Mr Tibber to

18 await the outcome of the report which was received on

19 6 October before raising those matters further, because,

20 of course, many of them are generic issues which were

21 addressed, of course, as my Lady knows, in the course of

22 that report.

23 Mr Tibber acquiesced in that suggestion, and so, to

24 the extent that it may have been suggested, either

25 expressly or inferentially, that the Metropolitan Police
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 1 had been asked to address issues but had not done so,

 2 I think that the real cause of any failure, if failure

 3 there was -- and we don't suggest that there was -- was

 4 because matters weren't raised with Mr Smith until

 5 a long time after the deadline for the submission of

 6 those observations.

 7 Now, of course, the position is that they have

 8 received the report, and Russell Jones & Walker and the

 9 Metropolitan Police and those whom my learned friend

10 Mr Saunders represents have agreed that the further

11 report may also be provided to Mr Tibber and so he will

12 have a full and adequate opportunity to be able to deal

13 with any outstanding issues that now remain.

14 I hope that addresses the issue --

15 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you.

16 MR KEITH: -- and corrects the impression given yesterday.

17 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Ms Gallagher?

18 MS GALLAGHER: My Lady, first and foremost, as indicated by

19 Mr Tibber in an email of last night to your Inquest

20 team, can we emphasise that no criticism whatsoever of

21 the Inquest team was intended and, to the extent that

22 anyone has taken what was said yesterday as criticism of

23 the Inquest team, we apologise for that, certainly that

24 wasn't intended.

25 As regards the Metropolitan Police, it appears clear
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 1 that there has been a misunderstanding about the status

 2 of the questions. It's clear that two of the families

 3 did provide questions, but it's accepted that they were

 4 provided late. I do need to note that one of those

 5 families had actually raised those questions with the

 6 coroner, the previous coroner, in 2006, and a large part

 7 of the delay -- and there's a large paper trail about

 8 this -- in providing those questions again was simply

 9 that they didn't have a copy to hand, couldn't obtain it

10 until September.

11 We now fully understand that the 22 September

12 report, which we received on 6 October, didn't take

13 account of the questions from those two families simply

14 because those questions weren't before them, and there

15 was good reason for those questions not to be put before

16 them because of the fact that they'd been provided to

17 your Inquest team outside the timetable.

18 Thereafter, it was understood that the questions had

19 been forwarded, and I can see from the paper trail that

20 there was some confusion about that.

21 In respect of the other two families who haven't

22 raised questions explicitly -- that's the Foulkes family

23 and the Morley family -- I've had the opportunity in the

24 last few minutes to speak to them outside court.

25 They've asked me to emphasise that they did not intend
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 1 to be critical, they are very concerned at a number of

 2 outstanding questions, but their position is that those

 3 concerns have crystallised for them since this inquest

 4 process started, and in particular when they

 5 concentrated their minds on Mr Wilson's statement and

 6 exhibits.

 7 That's raised a number of new questions. We accept

 8 that they're not questions which they've raised before.

 9 But they are questions of great importance to the

10 families. We're extremely grateful to Mr Hill for

11 indicating that he's willing, despite the fact that

12 these issues are being raised in October, for the

13 Metropolitan Police to look at those issues and, indeed,

14 Mr Wilson appears to have accepted that yesterday too.

15 So we're very grateful for that, and what we intend

16 to do, in terms of the way forward, is simply

17 consolidate the questions which were raised by the

18 Downey family in 2006 and reiterated in September this

19 year, which were raised by the Brewster family in August

20 and September this year, and the new questions which the

21 Morley and Foulkes families now have, consolidate those,

22 put them to the Metropolitan Police and we are very

23 grateful to your Inquest team and Mr Hill for indicating

24 that they would be willing to facilitate answering those

25 questions, and I think the families in court I have had
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 1 the opportunity to speak to are very grateful for that.

 2 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you very much, Ms Gallagher.

 3 I don't think there's anything to add, Mr Hill. Thank

 4 you all very much.

 5 MR KEITH: My Lady, Mr Hay will call your first witness.

 6 MR HAY: My Lady, before calling Mr Swan, may I read the

 7 evidence of Mr Paul Dadge?

 8 As my Lady will be aware, Mr Dadge gave a statement

 9 to the police dated 25 August 2005, but he also provided

10 testimony to the 7 July Review Committee of the

11 London Assembly on 23 March 2006. That testimony is

12 more comprehensive than his statement and, my Lady, with

13 your leave, I propose to read the relevant narrative

14 from that testimony, which will then, in due course, be

15 exhibited to a witness statement.

16 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you.

17 MR HAY: We had indicated to Mr Dadge that that would be the

18 course we would take.

19 Statement of MR PAUL DADGE read

20 "My name is Paul and I was involved in the incident

21 at Edgware Road Tube station. I have been involved in

22 the Fire Service operations at one level or another for

23 over ten years. My last action employment has been as

24 a retained firefighter with Royal Berkshire

25 Fire & Rescue, which ended in 2002.
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 1 "I think it is quite important for me to set the

 2 scene of 7 July, so I will briefly talk you through my

 3 movements that led me to be at Edgware Road that

 4 morning. I have got the times in here, and I think the

 5 times are quite critical.

 6 "At 8.40, I entered at King's Cross station. I then

 7 boarded train 242, a Hammersmith & City Line train, at

 8 8.45. We stopped at Great Portland Street and a small

 9 number of passengers disembarked. Our train came to

10 a stop in a tunnel just short of Baker Street station at

11 8.50. I have since learned that at this point the train

12 directly ahead of ourselves was train 216, a Circle Line

13 train, which was involved in the explosion just outside

14 Edgware Road station.

15 "After approximately three minutes, at 8.53, the

16 train driver made an announcement to say that there had

17 been a power shortage in the area of Edgware Road Tube

18 station. He would attempt to get more information and

19 report back to us. The message could be heard to be

20 interrupted several times, while he was trying to pass

21 the message, by heavy amounts of two-way traffic within

22 his driver's cab. He was obviously trying to listen to

23 what was happening over the radio while trying to give

24 the personal address announcement to ourselves.

25 "Approximately five minutes later, at 08.58, the
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 1 train driver made another announcement, 'Due to an

 2 incident at Edgware Road, this train will now terminate

 3 at Baker Street'. I would just add here that he did not

 4 really raise any concerns with me or anybody else. I am

 5 sure we have all been on the Tube and heard incidents.

 6 It can be a number of things.

 7 "We then immediately moved into Baker Street station

 8 where all passengers disembarked. The time is now

 9 estimated to be 09.00. It was noticed that a small

10 number of incoming passengers attempted to gain access

11 to the train at Baker Street. They were stopped by

12 London Underground staff. It was obvious at this stage

13 that an actual evacuation, the amber alert, was not

14 taking place, as we had to exit the barriers in a normal

15 fashion, swiping Oyster cards, et cetera.

16 "I then started to walk towards Paddington station

17 along Marylebone Road. I saw a Fire Rescue Unit from

18 Battersea pass me along Marylebone Road at 09.10 and

19 I arrived in Praed Street, Paddington, at approximately

20 09.15.

21 "Fire appliances from Paddington and Knightsbridge

22 were in attendance outside 73 Praed Street. They

23 appeared, from initial observations, to be attending an

24 automatic fire alarm, as there was no show of urgency

25 whatsoever. I looked up the street and across the
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 1 Edgware Road A5 towards the Edgware Road Tube station.

 2 At that point, there were no emergency vehicles in

 3 attendance outside the station.

 4 "I asked two builders who were working near

 5 Praed Street if they knew what was going on. They

 6 reported to me that they had felt an explosion under the

 7 road. I have since learned that a 999 call was received

 8 by the Fire Service for 73 Praed Street reporting an

 9 explosion. That is why the Fire Service was there.

10 "At approximately 09.20, a London ambulance response

11 car came from the direction of Paddington station along

12 Praed Street and parked outside Edgware Road station.

13 I noticed at this point that the police and police

14 support officers were attempting to erect a cordon at

15 the junction of Chapel Street and Edgware Road.

16 "I crossed Edgware Road and was stood outside the

17 front door to the Marks & Spencers store. It was

18 obvious at this point that the police resources on scene

19 were having difficulty from preventing members of the

20 public from accessing Chapel Street. Chapel Street is

21 the road that leads directly alongside the Edgware Road

22 station. The road itself was taped off, but the

23 pavement remained open and the police were fully

24 involved with stopping both the public and the traffic

25 from accessing Chapel Street.
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 1 "At approximately 09.30 to 09.35, passengers started

 2 to emerge from the station and began congregating on the

 3 corner outside Marks & Spencers' main entrance. This

 4 number rose quickly to 50. It was obvious, due to their

 5 appearance, that they had been involved in an incident

 6 and had inhaled smoke or dust. A number of the

 7 passengers were reporting there had been some kind of

 8 power surge on their train and this tallied with what

 9 I had heard over the PA system on my train at

10 Baker Street.

11 "A number of passengers made it known that they

12 wished to leave and carry on to work. These individuals

13 had inhaled dust from the tunnel walls caused by an

14 explosion and, I felt, would require medical attention.

15 The street corner was congested and it was becoming

16 difficult to establish who was passing public and who

17 was involved in the incident. At this time, the only

18 police resource on the scene was busy restricting access

19 to Chapel Street and guiding passengers towards the

20 street corner.

21 "The Hilton Metropole Hotel would have been an ideal

22 site for a rendezvous point. However, the main

23 Edgware Road dual carriageway system was still open and

24 traffic was extremely heavy. I made the decision to

25 speak to a male member of staff at Marks & Spencers who
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 1 was standing in the doorway and asked if we could use

 2 their store as a rendezvous point, which he immediately

 3 agreed to. I think I should stress at this stage that

 4 this was without any consultation with the emergency

 5 services on scene, who I felt at the time were busy

 6 performing other tasks. This is not a decision that

 7 I regret doing.

 8 "I then made the following announcement to those

 9 standing outside Marks & Spencers: 'Attention, please,

10 if you were involved in the incident at Edgware Road

11 Tube station, please make your way into

12 Marks & Spencers. Do not leave until you have spoken to

13 a police officer'. All passengers, including those

14 contemplating leaving the scene, then made their way

15 into Marks & Spencers. I felt this action was important

16 as passengers required direction and instruction. Most

17 were in a state of shock.

18 "From my understanding, the direct opposite occurred

19 at the Aldgate incident and people were pushed away from

20 the scene.

21 "Going back to Edgware Road, at this point there was

22 no sign of passengers who had been physically injured.

23 It was my assumption that Marks & Spencers would be used

24 purely as a holding area for the Metropolitan Police to

25 obtain names and addresses before releasing passengers
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 1 from the scene. I made a police sergeant aware that the

 2 rendezvous point had been set up within

 3 Marks & Spencers. This enabled emergency workers on

 4 scene to utilise the side entrance to Marks & Spencers

 5 which was behind the cordon line.

 6 "Passengers had been queueing for cups of water in

 7 the reception of Edgware Road Tube station before

 8 walking into Marks & Spencers. Working closely with the

 9 floor supervisor of Marks & Spencers and the police

10 sergeant, staff brought bottled water to the front of

11 the store to hand out to people as they entered and to

12 distribute to those who had dust and foreign bodies in

13 their eyes. Marks & Spencers staff had collected

14 a number of first aid boxes and they began treating

15 passengers with minor lacerations.

16 "It became obvious as the incident progressed that

17 there were not only going to be injured passengers

18 requiring treatment, but, also, the space we were in was

19 becoming congested and more seriously injured passengers

20 were being brought in to Marks & Spencers. I made an

21 announcement asking those who were not seriously injured

22 to move further into the store so as to keep the

23 entrance clear.

24 "This was followed shortly afterwards by another

25 message from a police officer asking us to now move even
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 1 further back inside due to a possible further blast that

 2 would send shattering glass into Marks & Spencers. It

 3 became apparent that the medical resources arriving on

 4 scene were being directed straight into Edgware Road

 5 station and none of this arriving at what was now

 6 a casualty rendezvous point.

 7 "I approached an ambulance officer, whose name

 8 I know to be Michelle, in Chapel Street and made her

 9 aware of the rendezvous point and asked for medical

10 assistance. She arrived shortly afterwards with two

11 paramedics who emptied their ambulance and medical

12 supplies, including burn packs and oxygen. These

13 supplies were soon consumed by the rapidly rising number

14 of casualty passengers now entering Marks & Spencers

15 which I approximate to be a minimum of 150.

16 "It is my understanding that an ambulance officer,

17 at this point, had passed a message reporting one

18 thousand casualties. A request was made for as many

19 ambulances as they could muster. A small number of

20 triage cards were handed out and I began to fill these

21 out for the most seriously injured. It is quite

22 a difficult thing to do when you have someone who does

23 not know what injuries they have suffered and you have

24 to write on the card that they have major injuries. You

25 write their major injuries down and you attach this to
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 1 their arm and they are sat there reading it, realising

 2 what their actual injuries are. It would appear that

 3 only a small number of triage cards are carried on the

 4 ambulance vehicles and these were quickly used.

 5 "To give an idea, at that point, the range of

 6 injuries ranged from people with flash burns, secondary

 7 degree burns, serious lacerations and amputations.

 8 "A plainclothes Metropolitan police officer arrived

 9 on the scene and asked me how he could assist.

10 I advised him that the store had been sectorised with

11 seriously injured casualties located towards the front

12 of the store and walking wounded towards the rear, and

13 that comforting and gaining name and address details

14 would be of great assistance.

15 "Shortly afterwards, the same police officer came

16 across a suspect device. This was a laptop bag that had

17 been left unattended next to a supporting column within

18 the Marks & Spencers store. He asked who the bag

19 belonged to and received no answer. He then made the

20 immediate decision to evacuate Marks & Spencers.

21 "I was instructed by the police in Chapel Street to

22 make my way over to the Hilton Metropole Hotel. The

23 traffic on Edgware Road had now cleared and the road was

24 closed. I am estimating the time to be approximately

25 10.30 to 11.00 now. Although the medical response on
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 1 the scene was limited, at least three agency

 2 photographers had arrived at Edgware Road and begun to

 3 photograph those crossing from Marks & Spencers to the

 4 Metropole Hotel. Staff inside the Hilton Metropole had

 5 donned fire warden jackets to make themselves visible

 6 and placed a cordon on reception, preventing the hotel

 7 guests from gaining access to the bar area which was

 8 being used as a treatment triage area.

 9 "The medical resources on the scene were limited to

10 the two paramedics and the small number of staff from

11 the London Helicopter Emergency Medical Service team.

12 We had run out of oxygen and dressings and had become

13 reliant on first aid supplies from Marks & Spencers and

14 the Hilton Metropole Hotel, plus it had become apparent

15 that the police had become aware of the lack of medical

16 resources on the scene and had begun to blue-light

17 medical staff from St Mary's Hospital and other

18 hospitals within the area to the scene. Nurses,

19 consultant and even a National Health Service priest

20 arrived at the hotel, although I think it is worth

21 mentioning at this point that it was great, but, without

22 the medical supplies, there was not much they could do

23 other than retriage the people who had initially been

24 assessed by myself and others.

25 "The delay in ambulance vehicles arriving was
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 1 noticeable. This was eventually facilitated by the

 2 Red Cross and St John's ambulance. A large number of

 3 walking wounded were conveyed to hospital via police

 4 riot vans. The final casualty, a pregnant lady, was

 5 removed from the Metropole Hotel at 12.00 by a St John's

 6 ambulance crew. It was only at this point that I knew

 7 there were other explosions around London due to the

 8 Sky News plasma screens at the Metropole reception."

 9 My Lady, Mr Dadge then goes on to comment about

10 events after 7 July 2005.

11 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you.

12 MR HAY: My Lady, may I invite you to call Peter Swan?

13 MR PETER JAMES SWAN (sworn)

14 Questions by MR HAY

15 MR HAY: Mr Swan, good morning.

16 A. Good morning.

17 Q. Can you give your full name to the court, please?

18 A. Peter James Swan.

19 Q. Mr Swan, you provided a statement to the police

20 regarding 7 July, dated 10 November 2005, but prior to

21 that you wrote a report, is that correct?

22 A. That is correct, yes.

23 Q. That is dated 13 July 2005?

24 A. That's correct.

25 Q. In July 2005, you were the acting duty station officer
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 1 at St John's Wood ambulance station?

 2 A. That is correct, yes.

 3 Q. How long had you been employed by the London Ambulance

 4 Service?

 5 A. I started work with the London Ambulance Service in

 6 1996, so by July 2005, it was nine years.

 7 Q. What are the responsibilities of an acting duty station

 8 officer?

 9 A. The responsibilities I had as an acting duty station

10 officer are I had three stations under myself which

11 formed the St John's Wood complex, totalling a sum of

12 I think it was around 120 staff by then. I was

13 responsible for their welfare, the smooth operation of

14 the station, also responding to incidents such as the

15 acts on 7 July, plus other smaller incidents.

16 Q. Which were the three stations under your control?

17 A. St John's Wood ambulance station, Park Royal ambulance

18 station and, at that time, Willesden ambulance station.

19 Q. You became the Silver medic at Edgware Road station?

20 A. That's correct, yes.

21 Q. Just to put it a little bit in context, I think there

22 came a point when you were joined by more senior

23 officers, Mr Hubbard and Mr Cook. What time did they

24 arrive?

25 A. I can't clearly remember without looking at my statement
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 1 I'm afraid, sorry.

 2 Q. In your statement, you don't mention what time they

 3 arrive but you mention that Mr Hubbard mentioned to you

 4 that there had been other explosions in London including

 5 Tavistock Square.

 6 A. That's correct, yes.

 7 Q. So that would put the arrival time at some point towards

 8 9.50, but possibly later than that. Does that help you

 9 in any way?

10 A. Yes, it was probably around that time, but I can't

11 clearly remember what time they actually arrived.

12 Q. But I think, despite being more senior, you retained the

13 role of Silver?

14 A. Yes, that's correct.

15 Q. Where were you when you first became aware of an

16 incident at Edgware Road?

17 A. I was on the A40 flyover travelling out towards

18 Park Royal towards Gipsy Corner.

19 Q. What vehicle were you in?

20 A. I was driving a Vauxhall Corsa.

21 Q. Is that liveried in any way?

22 A. It's a white Vauxhall Corsa with London Ambulance

23 Service markings down the side and it had a magnetic

24 blue light on the roof.

25 Q. Does it have radio equipment inside it?
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 1 A. At that time, no, it didn't.

 2 Q. How were you contacted?

 3 A. By mobile phone.

 4 Q. Was that from Central Ambulance Control?

 5 A. Yes, that's correct.

 6 Q. What were you told?

 7 A. When they phoned me, I was told that there were reports

 8 of a possible explosion at the Underground station at

 9 Praed Street, which is where I went to initially, and

10 then I got clarification again and redirected to

11 Edgware Road station at Chapel Street.

12 Q. What time, roughly, are you able to say you received

13 that call?

14 A. It was approximately 9.05.

15 Q. So the initial instruction was to go to Praed Street?

16 A. Yes, that's correct.

17 Q. Was it the understanding at the time that there was

18 a Tube station at Praed Street or just an explosion

19 possibly at Praed Street?

20 A. As far as I can recall, I was directed to Paddington

21 Underground station, which was Praed Street.

22 Q. So you were directed to Paddington rather than

23 Edgware Road?

24 A. I can't remember the entire conversation, but I was

25 definitely directed to the Underground station on
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 1 Praed Street.

 2 Q. Did you actually arrive at Paddington station?

 3 A. I did. I pulled up outside, but it became apparent that

 4 there was nothing happening there, which is when

 5 I clarified with them as to where it actually was and

 6 was redirected to Edgware Road, Chapel Street.

 7 Q. Did you telephone Central Ambulance Control yourself?

 8 A. I believe I did.

 9 Q. At that point, you were redirected to the Edgware Road

10 station?

11 A. That's correct, yes.

12 Q. Is it usual, as the acting duty station officer, to be

13 called to an incident at an Underground station?

14 A. Yes, that's correct, it is. It's well within the role

15 of the position.

16 Q. That wouldn't suggest in any way that there was some

17 serious incident going on at that point; it's just

18 standard procedure?

19 A. Yes, the standard procedure for any sort of incident

20 that occurs is to send the nearest duty station officer,

21 acting duty station officer, to it first.

22 Q. So in response to those first two or three telephone

23 calls that you had, you had no understanding of the

24 severity of the incident, it could just be any type of

25 incident which may occur at a Tube station?
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 1 A. That's correct, yes.

 2 Q. When you arrived at Edgware Road station, how many

 3 ambulances were there?

 4 A. I believe it was two.

 5 Q. Those two ambulances, was one Mr Mars and Mr Baker?

 6 A. Yes, that's correct.

 7 Q. The other one, Mr Buck and Mr Chandler?

 8 A. That's correct as well, yes.

 9 Q. We know from other sources that Mr Buck and Mr Chandler

10 was the second ambulance to arrive, and they arrived at

11 about 9.16. Are you able to say what time you arrived?

12 A. I believe it was around 9.15, 9.16.

13 Q. Prior to your arrival, had you had any other

14 communications, either from Mr Mars, who we know

15 contacted Central Ambulance Control, regarding the

16 severity of the incident?

17 A. No, I hadn't, no.

18 Q. When you arrived, what did you do?

19 A. When I arrived, I parked the vehicle up as near as

20 I could, I got out, I spoke with a member of the

21 London Underground staff to try to establish what had

22 actually happened, and he explained -- I think at the

23 time we believed it was a possible power surge that

24 occurred, and there had been an incident happen on the

25 train within the tunnel at -- or just outside
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 1 Edgware Road station.

 2 Q. Before you spoke to the London Underground staff, did

 3 you speak to any of your colleagues, either Mr Buck,

 4 Mr Chandler?

 5 A. I spoke to -- I believe it was Mr Buck, around the same

 6 time. I can't clearly state whether I spoke to him

 7 first or after the London Underground member of staff.

 8 Q. What did Mr Buck say to you?

 9 A. Mr Buck, as far as I can recall, stated that there had

10 been an incident on the train just outside the station.

11 It looked like there was an explosion, part of the train

12 was missing. There were several deceased, and quite

13 a few seriously injured.

14 Q. From that information, was it apparent to you that he

15 had already been down to the platform and along the

16 tracks?

17 A. That was my understanding.

18 Q. That obviously gave you an indication of the possible

19 severity of the incident.

20 A. That's correct, yes.

21 Q. Were you aware, at that point, that requests had already

22 been made for further ambulances by Mr Mars?

23 A. No, I wasn't.

24 Q. In the circumstances which you've just been told by

25 Mr Buck, what were your immediate priorities?
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 1 A. My immediate priorities were to -- with the severity --

 2 or what I believed to be the severity of the incident,

 3 was to immediately declare it as a major incident, or as

 4 soon as I could, ensure that resources were coming and

 5 then try and establish exactly what was going on and

 6 exactly what we needed.

 7 Q. Now, you say that one of the things you wanted to do was

 8 to declare a major incident. I just want to try to

 9 establish with you approximately at what time that may

10 have been.

11 Did you, yourself, contact Central Ambulance Control

12 and declare the major incident or did you ask someone

13 else to do it?

14 A. I declared it. I phoned Central Ambulance Control.

15 Q. You phoned them because you didn't have a radio in your

16 vehicle?

17 A. That's correct.

18 Q. Can we have a look on the screen, please, at [LAS565-20]?

19 We can see there, although it has a question mark by it,

20 a call from E202, which is Mr Buck and Mr Chandler's

21 call sign. That's about 09.24. It says there:

22 "Right. Just action. Peter Swan who obviously

23 declared it down here, he's in charge at the moment.

24 We're going to need -- how many vehicles have you got

25 coming down to us?"
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 1 Just pausing there, that suggests, where you

 2 declared it down here, that there was some declaration

 3 of a major incident locally amongst the officers who

 4 were already present at the scene.

 5 Is that what happened? Did you tell other people

 6 around you, "We're going to declare a major incident"?

 7 A. As far as I can recall, when I had the conversation with

 8 Mr Buck and he explained what was going on, I said,

 9 "Okay, I will be declaring this a major incident now",

10 yes.

11 Q. He goes on to describe the scene to Central Ambulance

12 Control and right at the bottom he says:

13 "We're going to need probably -- God knows, probably

14 at least another ten ambulances down here."

15 So he was obviously concerned about the number of

16 resources.

17 If we could now go on to page 25 [LAS565-25], please, there's

18 a message in the third column from the top, 09.29,

19 Echo 292. Is that you?

20 A. That would be my call sign, yes.

21 Q. What's GS, the receiver of the message?

22 A. I believe that was the person I was speaking to in the

23 control room, the initials.

24 Q. There it says:

25 "Declared major incident at Chapel Street."
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 1 So that looks like there you've declared the major

 2 incident at 09.29.

 3 A. Yes, I believed I declared it at around 09.25.

 4 Q. Assuming that's correct, you've arrived at or about

 5 quarter past, maybe a little bit after. There appears

 6 to have been a period of time, probably under

 7 15 minutes, but not by much, while you assessed the

 8 situation and then declared the major incident.

 9 During that 15 minutes, can I ask, what were you

10 doing?

11 A. I was obviously talking to members of LUL staff, talking

12 to my members of crew staff that were at the scene

13 already, and trying to sort of gain actually what had

14 occurred and what the situation was we were dealing

15 with.

16 Q. Were you surprised that no one else had previously

17 declared a major incident?

18 A. Not really, no, because I think the crew staff that were

19 there were probably also trying to work out what was

20 going on.

21 Q. You have spoken to Mr Buck, he's been down, he's seen

22 the scene, he's described the situation with the

23 carriages, there's been an explosion, possibility of

24 fatalities. Did it not surprise you that he hadn't

25 thought to declare a major incident at that point?
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 1 A. I suppose he would have thought about it, but I'm not

 2 sure.

 3 Q. What are the consequences of declaring a major incident?

 4 A. When you declare a major incident, a formal process is

 5 instigated in the control room where they put certain

 6 processes in to log everything, ensure vehicles are

 7 sent, liaison with the people that are actually at the

 8 scene.

 9 Q. Locally at the scene, is it right you have to allocate

10 a number of roles?

11 A. That's correct, yes.

12 Q. Did you do that?

13 A. As more and more people turned up, more and more

14 officers turned up, yes, I allocated certain roles.

15 Q. We know from looking at your report that you allocated

16 the role of Bronze medic to Mr Buck?

17 A. As far as I remember, yes.

18 Q. Bronze parking to Mr Faulkner?

19 A. Yes, that's correct.

20 Q. Bronze loading to Mr Faulkner and then is it Ms or

21 Mr Whitbread took over?

22 A. Mr Whitbread took over, yes.

23 Q. And Bronze clearing to Michelle Heyes. Can you explain

24 to us in briefly, leaving aside Bronze medic, what are

25 the roles of Bronze parking, Bronze loading and Bronze
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 1 clearing?

 2 A. Bronze parking is the officer who will -- or the Bronze

 3 officer who will make sure that the ambulances are all

 4 parked in a uniform place, the correct RVP, so that they

 5 can all be accessed and be removed from scene as

 6 required.

 7 Bronze loading is the officer who will facilitate

 8 the loading of the patients into the back of the

 9 ambulance and record who's gone into what ambulance and

10 which hospital they're off to, and Bronze clearing is

11 the officer within the casualty sort of clearing area

12 who will -- if you're looking at the triage cards --

13 decide which patient goes next.

14 Q. I don't think you allocated the role of Bronze triage.

15 A. No, I don't think I did.

16 Q. But it appears, from what we've heard from the

17 paramedics at St John's Wood, that that didn't adversely

18 affect the scene in respect of the carriage itself, but

19 it is clear that a number of paramedics arrived at the

20 scene from St John's Wood ambulance station at about

21 9.23, 9.24, Messrs Woofenden, Greenwood, Pearson, Meyer,

22 Ms Pitkin, Mr Joshi and Mr Wymer and, from the evidence

23 we've heard, they all immediately went into the foyer

24 area and started treating people and some immediately

25 then started going down on to the platform making their
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 1 way to the train.

 2 Is that the procedure, is that how it should happen?

 3 A. No, that's not how it should have happened, but due to

 4 the amount of people that were in the foyer area, it was

 5 quite clear that we needed to clear there, so I needed

 6 people to assess the patients and to move them out there

 7 so we could have room to remove the more seriously

 8 injured patients.

 9 Q. What should the process have been?

10 A. The process should be to allocate all the nominated

11 Bronze roles where possible and have the process in

12 place.

13 Q. But is it right that, on their arrival, what,

14 theoretically, they should have done was to come to the

15 incident officer, you, for a briefing before then

16 deciding where to go and what to do?

17 A. That's correct, but it didn't adversely affect what

18 happened on the day.

19 Q. I'm not suggesting it did. There's quite a distinct

20 difference between the evidence we've heard at Aldgate

21 where lots of roles were allocated, but there was

22 a difference in, perhaps, the effectiveness in that

23 response, and what happened at Edgware Road, where

24 people got on and did things, and it appears that they

25 all acted very professionally and extremely well. So
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 1 I'm not suggesting it adversely affected. I'm just

 2 interested in the difference between the two.

 3 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Was it that they were using their

 4 initiative?

 5 A. To a certain extent, my Lady, yes.

 6 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Having seen what was in front of

 7 them?

 8 A. That's correct, my Lady, yes.

 9 MR HAY: On their arrival, would they have known that you

10 were the Silver in charge?

11 A. They should have been informed by Central Ambulance

12 Control as it was called at the time, yes.

13 Q. Were you wearing anything at around that time, 09.23 to

14 09.24, which would have indicated you were Silver?

15 A. In the vehicle I arrived in, unfortunately, I didn't

16 have the major incident tabards. I only got hold of

17 that when my colleague, Graham Card, who's call sign

18 Bravo 699, arrived in his vehicle, and I can't exactly

19 remember what time he arrived.

20 Q. So until you've got the tabards, it's quite difficult to

21 differentiate who has which roles?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. One of the ways to make it clear to everyone that there

24 is an Incident Command post is to have one ambulance

25 with the blue lights on?
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 1 A. That's correct.

 2 Q. Did that happen at this incident?

 3 A. In all honesty, I can't clearly remember.

 4 Q. Are you able to give us an indication by what time you

 5 think an effective command and control structure, from

 6 the point of view of the Ambulance Service, was in place

 7 at Edgware Road, in the sense that roles had been

 8 allocated?

 9 A. I believe by around sort of 9.45, 9.50, that we were

10 starting to get the control of it, yes.

11 Q. I wanted to have a look at a comment made in your

12 report. Can we have up on the screen, please, [LAS247-7]?

13 Then under "Improvements", if we could focus in there,

14 please:

15 "Failure of the entire communications system, which

16 resulted in requests for more staff/vehicles and

17 equipment not getting through."

18 I want to ask you about communications, then move on

19 to staff, and then equipment.

20 If we could have it taken off the screen, please,

21 thank you.

22 In respect of communications, effectively there's

23 a chain starting from the people in the carriage out to

24 you, and then on to Central Ambulance Control or Gold

25 and then vice versa back the other way.
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 1 A. Yes.

 2 Q. To what extent were you aware of communication

 3 difficulties faced by those people in the carriage, the

 4 paramedics on the scene in the carriage?

 5 A. The members of my staff that were there, the paramedics

 6 and the emergency medical teams that were down in the

 7 carriage, the problems they had, they didn't have access

 8 to radios that worked underground, which was obviously

 9 causing them a problem, so somebody had to be utilised

10 to run from the scene up to the roadside to communicate

11 with myself and my colleagues that were up there.

12 Q. So that indicates that there was a system of runners in

13 place. It appears from the evidence that we've heard

14 that, I think, save for Mr Baker, without exception,

15 every single paramedic, either in the carriage or on the

16 track, at one point or another had to leave to come out

17 to request either equipment or resources, and so they

18 were leaving the carriage and going backwards and

19 forwards, not necessarily all at the same time, but it

20 does suggest there wasn't a system of runners in place,

21 rather, that people were just taking that role on on an

22 ad hoc basis. Would that be right?

23 A. That did happen, yes, but when one of my fellow officers

24 turned up, I utilised him as a runner as well.

25 Q. That fellow officer, who was that?
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 1 A. I believe that to be Graham Card, call sign Bravo 699.

 2 Q. Again, I know it's difficult, are you able to help us

 3 with what time he arrived?

 4 A. I believe he was there at approximately 9.30, but

 5 I could be mistaken.

 6 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: As far as you were concerned, you

 7 were there as Silver medic. I'm getting the impression

 8 that all the different organisations are all trying to

 9 find out when they arrive what's going on. To what

10 extent was there proper liaison between you and, as it

11 were, your equivalents in the other organisations

12 assisting in the rescue?

13 A. When I arrived, obviously after I'd spoken to my members

14 of staff and London Underground staff, I did speak to

15 a police officer and a member of the London Fire Service

16 to see what information they had, my Lady.

17 MR HAY: With the paramedics coming backwards and forwards

18 from the carriage up to the station level and back, to

19 what extent were you aware of what equipment and what

20 resources they needed down in the carriage?

21 A. They were requesting dressings, we were utilising the

22 ambulances that were already on scene, taking the

23 equipment off the back of them, and that's -- they were

24 trying to work out ways to get the seriously injured out

25 of the carriages and, again, using the equipment that's
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 1 available to us on the back of the ambulances.

 2 Q. Were you aware of particular requests for lighting?

 3 A. No, I was not.

 4 Q. If you had been aware for a particular request for

 5 lighting, what would you have done?

 6 A. I would have possibly spoken to London Underground staff

 7 to see if they had any facilities and, as for myself,

 8 I obviously had no facilities for lighting, but I did

 9 put in a request for our emergency support vehicle --

10 Q. I'm going to come on to that.

11 A. -- which does carry lighting on the back of it.

12 Q. So obviously there was a degree of difficulty in

13 communication between the people, paramedics in the

14 carriage and you at station level.

15 To what extent were you also encountering

16 difficulties in communicating with either Central

17 Ambulance Control or Gold Command?

18 A. The difficulties I encountered was obviously, when the

19 incidents throughout London that day became apparent,

20 the mobile phone network became overloaded, so obviously

21 getting through on a mobile phone was difficult and, via

22 the radio, the amount of communication and traffic that

23 was going over the radio system was also creating us

24 difficulties.

25 Q. During your time at the scene as Silver, prior to the
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 1 scene coming to a close at about 12.20, how much

 2 communication did you have with Gold at all?

 3 A. Early on, I was in contact with them on quite a regular

 4 basis. Then the difficulty is -- it became quite

 5 difficult to get in contact with them, so the decision

 6 was made to try to manage the incident at a local level.

 7 Q. We saw from the comment that we had up on screen earlier

 8 that some of the consequences of difficulties with

 9 communication were requests for resources -- people in

10 particular, but also equipment -- weren't getting

11 through. I wanted to ask you about resources in the

12 sense of people, hands on deck.

13 We've heard from other paramedics a certain degree

14 of frustration about the amount of resources which were

15 present. We know, for example, Mr Baker felt there were

16 insufficient ambulances there at the scene and they

17 didn't get the resources they wanted.

18 We've seen the call a little bit earlier saying, "We

19 need at least another ten ambulances", and that was at

20 09.24. Even before then, we've also seen in evidence at

21 09.16 a request for "as many ambulances as you can

22 muster".

23 To what extent did you feel you needed additional

24 resources which you didn't get in the short and

25 medium-term at the scene?
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 1 A. It's correct, we could have done with several more

 2 ambulances. I was also made aware of a paramedic

 3 training course that was taking place and asked for them

 4 to be sent up to us at Edgware Road, physically just

 5 people. I think that's about --

 6 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Did they arrive?

 7 A. No, they didn't, my Lady.

 8 MR HAY: That paramedic training, was it at Fulham?

 9 A. That's correct, yes.

10 Q. As a duty station officer with responsibility for

11 St John's Wood, Willesden at the time, Park Royal, we've

12 also seen debriefing forms commenting that Willesden and

13 Park Royal ambulance services weren't used at all.

14 Did you try to get those resources deployed at any

15 point?

16 A. At the time, I wasn't aware those resources were

17 available.

18 Q. Presumably, any request for resources you make has to go

19 through either Gold or Central Ambulance Control?

20 A. That's correct, yes.

21 Q. Obviously, the need for resources dissipates as the

22 scene gets under control, but what did you need those

23 additional resources for initially, which you didn't

24 have?

25 A. Initially, it was the volume of people that were walking
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 1 out of the station, to attend to them, to make sure --

 2 to tend to their injuries.

 3 Q. So it's literally people to triage and treat?

 4 A. That is correct.

 5 Q. To what extent did you feel you needed people to act as

 6 runners, carrying stretchers?

 7 A. That's correct, yes, I could have used them as well,

 8 used the people for runners and to, basically, carry

 9 stretchers.

10 Q. We know eventually that the Fire Brigade performed the

11 role of carrying many of the stretchers, but at the

12 immediate time you were there, from 9.15 to sort of

13 9.40, were there sufficient resources from other

14 emergency services to perform those roles?

15 A. As far as I recall, there was sufficient resources

16 there, yes.

17 Q. Despite that, you still felt you needed paramedics on

18 the scene and emergency technicians?

19 A. That's correct. Sorry, if I can just clarify that

20 point, because obviously, at the time, the other

21 emergency services obviously had their own priorities as

22 well.

23 Q. But in the sense of you're all there, you're all trying

24 to work together, you were asked by my Lady earlier

25 a little bit about liaison between the other emergency
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 1 services, we know that there was a Silver meeting at

 2 about 10.30. Prior to that meeting, to what extent were

 3 you meeting with your opposite numbers for the police,

 4 for the Fire Brigade, saying, "Look, I need people to do

 5 this, I need people to do that"?

 6 A. The 10.30 meeting, roughly 10.30 meeting, was the first

 7 official Silver group meeting that I recall having.

 8 I was meeting with members of the police and the

 9 Fire Service prior to that.

10 Q. On an informal basis, did you ask any of those emergency

11 responders to assist with the tasks you needed, so

12 triaging, carrying stretchers?

13 A. I can't recall, I'm afraid.

14 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Were you aware that anybody had

15 access to communications in the tunnel; for example,

16 that the Fire Brigade had a radio that was working?

17 A. Not as far as I can recall, my Lady, no.

18 MR HAY: Can we have up on the screen, please, [LAS89-2] to

19 begin with. This is a debrief form of Lee Parker. He's

20 a HEMS paramedic. I don't know whether or not you know

21 him.

22 A. I do know Mr Parker, yes.

23 Q. If we could look at the third page [LAS89-3], please, and then the

24 bottom, he says there:

25 "I cannot understand why local crews (Park Royal,
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 1 Willesden) were not used. Due to the number of

 2 casualties involved, we had to utilise various medical

 3 staff who ended up creating more work as they did not

 4 understand triage and/or major incident procedures.

 5 Other medical staff should be kept as far away as

 6 possible from these incidents."

 7 Was that a problem which you encountered? We've

 8 heard of doctors coming from St Mary's, and trainee

 9 nurses, from Mr Dadge's statement. Was that something

10 you were aware of, of having staff who weren't familiar

11 with major incident procedures trying to assist but

12 actually causing more difficulty?

13 A. Personally, from my position on the day as Silver, no,

14 I wasn't aware of that.

15 Q. From your point of view, would it be, you know, the more

16 trained staff we have there, the better?

17 A. Under our major incident plan, we would take charge of

18 any medical personnel that turns up, be it from

19 a hospital or another Ambulance Service, and we should

20 be directing them.

21 Q. Did there come a point when you felt you did have

22 sufficient resources to deal with the incident?

23 A. I think there came a point where we -- yes, we were

24 managing the incident with the resources we had.

25 Q. That sounds like making do, rather than feeling that you
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 1 had enough resources to cope properly.

 2 A. We could have done with some more resources, yes.

 3 Q. Was that throughout the duration of the incident or was

 4 that for an initial period?

 5 A. For the initial period.

 6 Q. How long would that have been for?

 7 A. Probably for the first hour and a half or so.

 8 Q. I wanted to ask you about equipment and sufficiency of

 9 equipment. Can we have up on the screen, please,

10 [LAS565-16]? At 09.21, we can see a call made by E202, so

11 either Mr Buck or Mr Chandler, to Central Ambulance

12 Control:

13 "Further information. We've got an undisclosed

14 amount of people with quite severe burns and we're going

15 to need probably one of your big trucks down here with

16 some ... secondary stuff because we're going to run out

17 of gear very, very quickly. We've got no idea of

18 casualties, it's chaos down here."

19 The reference to "big trucks" and the suggestion

20 that they're going to run out of gear, does that sound

21 like a request for an emergency support vehicle?

22 A. That is how I would read it, yes.

23 Q. So that was at 9.21. There was already a concern at

24 that point that you're going to run out of resources.

25 Did you make a request for an ESV?
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 1 A. Yes, I did.

 2 Q. Are you able to help us with roughly what time that

 3 would have been?

 4 A. I'm afraid I can't remember the exact time, but it would

 5 have been fairly early on.

 6 Q. We know that's at 09.21. Was it before or after you

 7 declared a major incident?

 8 A. I would say it was probably after, but only slightly.

 9 It might well have been in the same conversation.

10 Q. At some point, about 09.21 or shortly thereafter?

11 A. That's correct, yes.

12 Q. What time did the ESV arrive?

13 A. I can't clearly remember, I'm afraid.

14 Q. Are you able to give us any indication?

15 A. I think it was around 10.00.

16 Q. What resources would that carry which you were running

17 out of?

18 A. In the back of the emergency support vehicle it contains

19 a whole variety of equipment, from extra oxygen

20 cylinders, extra pain-relieving gas, Entonox cylinders,

21 dressings packs, doctor's packs, oxygen masks. There's

22 lighting in the back, there's tents in the back of it.

23 There's a generator in the back of it.

24 Q. Is the lighting tripod lighting?

25 A. There is tripod lighting. There's also another form of
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 1 lighting in there as well.

 2 Q. What's the other form of lighting?

 3 A. If memory serves me right, it's strip lighting,

 4 fluorescent lighting.

 5 Q. So we've seen that the first request for that emergency

 6 support vehicle appears to be about 09.21, Mr Buck and

 7 Mr Chandler, and it appears to have taken quite a long

 8 time to arrive at the scene, from what we can gather,

 9 about 10.00, you think.

10 At what point, or at any point, were you critically

11 short of resources in terms of equipment?

12 A. There was one point that I remember being asked that we

13 needed more triage cards and some more dressings, but

14 again, I can't clearly remember what time that was.

15 Q. Were you aware of a shortage of analgesia?

16 A. No, I was not.

17 Q. The reason why I've asked, we've heard from Mr Joshi,

18 who treated one casualty who had a very bad injury to

19 her foot, I think Emily Benton, and he said that she

20 didn't receive any pain relief over the time that he was

21 with her, and I think he took her to hospital, so from

22 point of explosion, she may have been evacuated at about

23 10.00 at best guesses, but that wasn't something which

24 made its way to you, shortage of analgesia?

25 A. To the best of my knowledge, no.
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 1 Q. I just wanted to ask you very briefly about access and

 2 egress at the scene. From your report, there was

 3 a system put in place with, effectively, a one-way

 4 system of ambulances passing through along Chapel Street

 5 from the Edgware Road then out on to the

 6 Old Marylebone Road. Is that right?

 7 A. That's correct, yes. We were quite lucky with access

 8 and egress. Chapel Street being a one-way street,

 9 I made a decision from the Edgware Road end we'd bring

10 the vehicles in and, as you correctly say, exit out the

11 other end.

12 Q. Can we have up on the screen, please, [LAS263-2] to begin

13 with? This is an incident report of Bob Fellows, who

14 was at the scene, and if we could turn over to page 3 [LAS263-3] ,

15 please, the top paragraph, the second sentence:

16 "Many crews also abandoned ambulances in road

17 outside and the keys were in drivers' pockets down in

18 the depths of the Tube station. This reduced our

19 resources for conveyance."

20 To what extent was that a problem which you faced?

21 A. I was -- at the time, I was only made aware of one

22 ambulance where the keys had been taken, and I believe

23 that was one of the initial crews on scene, who, in

24 accordance to Service policy, as they didn't know it was

25 a major incident at the time, are instructed to remove
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 1 the keys for security reasons.

 2 Q. So as far as you were concerned, it was one vehicle, not

 3 several?

 4 A. I was only made aware of one vehicle, yes.

 5 Q. From your report, it's quite clear, despite some of

 6 these difficulties, that the scene itself was very well

 7 controlled by yourself. By what time was the train

 8 cleared of casualties, as far as you are aware?

 9 A. As far as I was aware, one of the Helicopter Emergency

10 Medical Service doctors down there -- and he informed me

11 that the train was clear of all seriously -- all

12 casualties by around 10.30, 10.40.

13 Q. Obviously it's not just the carriage which you're

14 dealing with. You also had a very large number of

15 walking wounded and other people with a varying degree

16 of injuries. Can you help us with this: how many

17 walking wounded were there, as an approximation?

18 A. As an approximation -- because I can't remember the

19 exact figure -- I would say there was at least 100 or

20 more, if not more.

21 Q. You're responsible for those people, many of whom were

22 at the Marks & Spencers --

23 A. That's correct.

24 Q. -- and then were moved to the Metropole?

25 A. That's correct.
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 1 Q. So you're covering, as an area of responsibility,

 2 effectively three different sites in quite a large

 3 vicinity. Is that correct?

 4 A. That's correct, yes.

 5 Q. No doubt that posed many difficulties and challenges for

 6 you.

 7 A. It did, but when I had colleagues, other officers,

 8 arrive, I designated them Bronze roles to go and deal

 9 with -- Michelle Heyes was directed to Marks & Spencers

10 there and another couple of my colleagues were directed

11 to the London Metropole.

12 Q. By what time had both of those scenes been cleared of

13 all casualties?

14 A. It was approximately midday.

15 Q. From your report, the number of seriously injured people

16 who made their way to hospital appears to be two

17 priority 1s --

18 A. That's correct, to the best of my knowledge, yes.

19 Q. -- 12 priority 2s and 35 priority 3s. So 49 patients

20 which were in need of some fairly urgent medical

21 attention?

22 A. That's correct, yes.

23 Q. So despite this array of difficulties, communications,

24 lack of equipment, not having all the resources you

25 necessarily wanted, it appears that the initial scene
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 1 was under control and contained within 10.00 and 10.30

 2 effectively, and then you managed to clear all the other

 3 areas by 12.00, 12.30?

 4 A. That's correct, yes.

 5 Q. After the scene, did you attend a debrief?

 6 A. Are you referring to the debrief at Millwall?

 7 Q. Did you attend Millwall?

 8 A. Yes, I did, yes.

 9 Q. Presumably, given the difficult day you had, I suspect

10 you don't remember a huge -- much about it. Would that

11 be fair?

12 A. Unfortunately, yes, that would be fair, yes.

13 Q. Did you have another debrief at any point, given your

14 role as Silver?

15 A. Yes, that's correct. Several weeks after the incidents

16 happened on 7 July, I was asked to attend a debrief at

17 Pocock Street, the annex of our headquarters.

18 Q. Who was that with?

19 A. Emergency planning manager Jon Edmondson was there --

20 Jonathan Edmondson, sorry. One of the HEMS doctors was

21 there, whose name I can't remember, I'm afraid.

22 I believe Mark Whitbread was there. Myself.

23 Q. Was the purpose of that debrief for you to feed back

24 about what had gone well and what had gone badly, or was

25 it an assessment of your performance?
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 1 A. As far as I recall, it was to feed back any problems and

 2 difficulties we may have had, what went well.

 3 Q. Do you know whether or not minutes were taken of that

 4 meeting?

 5 A. I can't remember, I'm afraid.

 6 MR HAY: I think I mentioned right at the outset that there

 7 were more senior officers than you on the scene:

 8 Mr Hubbard and Mr Cook. Perhaps if we could just look

 9 at what they had to say. Can we have a look at

10 [LAS257-2]?

11 This is Mr Hubbard's incident report form, he's an

12 ambulance operations manager, and then, if we could go

13 to page 4 [LAS257-4], please:

14 "Lessons identified - best practice.

15 "On scene DSO had scene well-managed with staff

16 allocated to roles and systems in place to manage

17 patients effectively. Not required to remove role from

18 him and acted as his support and to provide strategic

19 direction, especially in absence of comms with Gold."

20 So as far as Mr Hubbard was concerned, the best

21 thing, in terms of the scene that day, appears to have

22 been you, Mr Swan.

23 If we could also have a quick look at [LAS260-2], this

24 is Mr Cook's report, and again:

25 "Lessons identified - best practice" right at the
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 1 bottom:

 2 "... a very competent A/DSO to carry on in the

 3 role."

 4 Mr Swan, I have no more questions for you, but

 5 others may.

 6 A. Thank you.

 7 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Ms Gallagher?

 8 Questions by MS GALLAGHER

 9 MS GALLAGHER: Mr Swan, in asking these questions, I'm very

10 conscious of the positive comments that have been made

11 about you in the debriefs referred to and also in others

12 that I've seen, but plainly, on behalf of my clients,

13 I've got a number of issues which I've got to put to you

14 in terms of lessons which may be able to be learnt,

15 despite the fact that, overall, your performance has

16 been praised.

17 Could I start with your reference earlier today to

18 a power surge? My Lady, the reference is page 22,

19 line 6. You indicated, Mr Swan, that you thought at an

20 early stage when you arrived that there was a possible

21 power surge, that might have been what you were dealing

22 with.

23 Do you recall where you got that information?

24 A. That information I believe I received in two forms. One

25 was from a London Underground member of staff, when
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 1 I arrived at the scene, and I believe also one of my

 2 members of staff may have said they thought it had been

 3 a power surge, or that they had been informed that it

 4 might have been a power surge.

 5 Q. Could we have [LAS247-2] on screen, please?

 6 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I think you also mentioned

 7 a passenger earlier telling you that they thought it was

 8 a power surge.

 9 A. That is also quite probably correct, my Lady, yes.

10 MS GALLAGHER: That's at a later stage, is it, the

11 passenger?

12 A. It may have been when I arrived, as there were obviously

13 passengers coming out of the station when I arrived as

14 well.

15 Q. Could we have [LAS247-2] on screen, thank you.

16 You refer in the first paragraph here to being told

17 it's a possible explosion. You describe in the third

18 paragraph down the overview you were given from

19 paramedic Philip Buck, where he describes the

20 approximate numbers of dead and critically injured

21 people, and it's in the fourth paragraph that you make

22 reference to what the London Underground staff member

23 said to you:

24 "... he said he wasn't sure but there was

25 a possibility that a power cable had come down and
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 1 caused the explosion."

 2 Do you recall anything about that particular person?

 3 A. Sorry, could you explain?

 4 Q. Do you recall anything about that member of

 5 London Underground staff?

 6 A. No, I can't, I'm afraid.

 7 Q. Do you recall if they seemed to be in a management or

 8 senior role?

 9 A. I can't clearly remember what role they would have been

10 taking, I'm afraid.

11 Q. You say in the final sentence of that page:

12 "At this time, I was not aware of the other

13 incidents going on around London."

14 If we go to the next page, to page 3 [LAS247-3], you refer

15 again twice to other incidents going on around London.

16 Firstly, six lines down, you say you found out there

17 were other incidents going on around London when you

18 make the call to formally declare a major incident,

19 which we know was at 9.29?

20 A. That's correct.

21 Q. That's the first time you became aware?

22 A. That's correct. As I was making the phone call to

23 declare it a major incident, the person I was speaking

24 to on the other end of the phone just asked me to hang

25 on whilst he checked that this hadn't already been
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 1 declared a major incident. So I asked him to explain

 2 what he meant, and it was at that point he said there

 3 are -- "We've got reports of other incidents going on

 4 around London", but I still wasn't aware as to the

 5 extent at that stage.

 6 Q. Could we have [LAS565-20] on screen, please? Mr Swan, you

 7 saw this earlier when you were taken to the call at

 8 09.24 from Mr Buck and Mr Chandler's call sign, and you

 9 can see a reference is made below that to a major

10 incident being declared at Aldgate. So the final box,

11 09.24, a major incident is declared at Aldgate, so about

12 five minutes before you call at 09.29. You're then

13 informed of that.

14 You do say, if we could go back to [LAS247-3], in the

15 first paragraph, in the very final line, just when

16 you've described nominating two hospitals, St Mary's

17 Hospital and University College Hospital and the

18 receiving units, you say:

19 "I was still unaware at this time of the other

20 incidents."

21 So presumably you nominated those hospitals before

22 9.29 when you made the call?

23 A. I would have nominated those hospitals, yes, before

24 then.

25 Q. Could we have on screen LAS89? It's the debrief of
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 1 Lee Parker. It's at page 3 [LAS89-3], please. So, Mr Swan, you

 2 were taken to the debrief of Lee Parker in respect of

 3 local crews not being used earlier, but there's

 4 a different point I just want to raise here.

 5 At page 3 it says -- in fact, it may be over the

 6 page on page 4. Yes, it's on page 4 [LAS89-4], he said:

 7 "I also cannot understand why just a small number of

 8 hospitals received a large number of patients when the

 9 likes of Newham and Central Middlesex received hardly

10 any. Surely the minor injuries could have travelled

11 further?"

12 So he makes a criticism that, in fact, these other

13 hospitals weren't being used. Do you have any comment

14 on that?

15 A. No, I can't.

16 Q. You didn't think it necessary, Mr Swan, to change your

17 decision on the nominated hospitals once you became

18 aware of the other incidents and the fact that there was

19 going to be some pressure?

20 A. We did change one of the hospitals. We kept St Mary's,

21 Paddington, for obvious reasons, and we changed the

22 other hospital to the Royal Free in Hampstead.

23 Q. Thank you.

24 You've been asked earlier about the keys in the

25 ambulance and, in fact, we heard evidence earlier this
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 1 week from Graeme Baker -- my Lady, the reference for you

 2 is Day 25 at page 123 -- to him leaving the keys in the

 3 ambulance for the very understandable reason that, at

 4 the time, it wasn't a major incident and he's not in the

 5 habit of leaving keys in the ambulance for people when

 6 the ambulance is on the street.

 7 You've been taken to the reference by Bob Fellows.

 8 There's two other references. I don't intend to take

 9 you to them, but, my Lady, for your note, it's

10 Kevin Marshall, [LAS258-2], and Mark Whitbread LAS261-3.

11 They all say that the keys not being in the ambulance

12 slowed down subsequent vehicles.

13 So, Mr Swan, given that there were two ambulances on

14 scene according to your report when you arrive, once you

15 have declared the major incident, why were no steps

16 taken to retrieve the keys from those paramedics who

17 were down in the tunnel?

18 A. At that stage, I was not aware that the keys were

19 missing from the vehicles.

20 Q. But if you have arrived on scene and you know that it

21 wasn't a major incident when you arrive on scene and you

22 know there are two ambulances there and you declare

23 a major incident 15 minutes later, would it not be

24 apparent that the ambulances which were outside

25 inevitably won't have the keys in them because it wasn't
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 1 a major incident at 9.15 when you arrived, but it is

 2 a major incident by 9.29?

 3 A. To be honest, when I arrived, the vehicle keys

 4 I wouldn't necessarily have looked for.

 5 Q. I very much understand this wouldn't be at the forefront

 6 of your mind, but Mr Baker did say during the week

 7 no one came to get the keys from him at any point, so

 8 I've obviously got to put it to you.

 9 Can I take to you a couple of quick points in some

10 of the other debriefs that you haven't been taken to?

11 First of all, LAS258, Mr Marshall, and I should say that

12 there's very positive comments about you at page 3 and

13 very positive comments about the teamwork, which I'm not

14 going to take you to.

15 Firstly, on page 2 [LAS258-2] under "Lessons identified -

16 improvements", the very first bullet point says:

17 "Channel 9, the channel used by Gold control for the

18 incident, was very poor. We could not be heard when

19 calling up and found it difficult to hear when others

20 were transmitting."

21 Is this what you were referring to earlier when you

22 talked about some of the additional communication

23 difficulties?

24 A. Yes, that's correct.

25 Q. Secondly, a number of bullet points down, just after
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 1 where reference is made to the keys causing delays, the

 2 bullet point saying:

 3 "No communications between Silver, the clearing

 4 station (Metropole Hotel) and CAC."

 5 Were you aware of that complaint?

 6 A. No, I was not.

 7 Q. Do you agree with it as a fair criticism?

 8 A. The communication between myself and my colleague whose

 9 report this is could have been better, yes.

10 Q. Could we go to LAS89, which is the Lee Parker debrief,

11 please? Could we go to page 3 [LAS89-3] ? Just near the top, it's

12 the second question:

13 "Did you feel supported/have leadership from the

14 Command structure officers?"

15 Mr Parker has circled "No". Again, do you have any

16 comment on that?

17 A. No, I haven't, I'm afraid, ma'am.

18 Q. There's just one final point with Lee Parker. It's on

19 page 3, further down the page, please. It may be

20 page 4, my reference may be wrong. It's the bottom of

21 page 4 [LAS89-4], excuse me. It says:

22 "I felt sorry for the Bronze [it seems to say

23 "officer"] on scene as she had an impossible job trying

24 to cover three sites (Tube station, M&S and the

25 Metropole Hotel) that involved about 200-300 metres of
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 1 ground! I thought under the circumstances she did her

 2 job very well."

 3 Now that must be a reference to Michelle Heyes, the

 4 Bronze clearing person whom you've referred to earlier

 5 on, presumably, because the reference is to "she"?

 6 A. I can only presume it would be. There were two female

 7 officers at Edgware Road that day.

 8 Q. Do you think this reference to the Bronze officer on

 9 scene was to Michelle Heyes, given what her role was?

10 A. That is how I would read it, yes.

11 Q. Were you aware of any concern that she was overstretched

12 in any way in the way that is suggested here by

13 Mr Parker?

14 A. I do recall -- I mean, initially, Michelle was on her

15 own until, obviously, fellow officers and fellow

16 paramedics and emergency medical technicians arrived

17 and, as soon as they arrived, I was designating some of

18 them to go and assist her to try to relieve the

19 pressure.

20 Q. Thanks very much, Mr Swan. There's just two final

21 things. Could we go to [LAS263-3], please? This is back

22 to Mr Fellows' report. Above where it says "Lessons

23 identified - best practice", if we could scroll in, it's

24 the very last paragraph before that, it says:

25 "We should have asked every individual to fill in
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 1 one of these reports as a historical and legal/clinical

 2 record of events, not just the Bronze and Silver roles.

 3 Lessons are best learnt from the front trenches, not

 4 behind the lines."

 5 It's apparent from what we've seen that there are

 6 a number of debrief forms filled in, but it's a little

 7 haphazard, not everyone fills them in, or certainly we

 8 don't have debrief forms for absolutely everyone.

 9 Who was responsible for requesting the formal

10 written debriefs from those who attended at

11 Edgware Road?

12 A. The -- I believe, as far as I can remember, the debriefs

13 were organised by our Emergency Planning Unit.

14 Q. Were you aware of any gaps of some people being asked

15 and others not?

16 A. Not at the time, no.

17 Q. The final matter, Mr Swan, which I want to deal with,

18 actually touches on an issue which my Lady asked you

19 about earlier. She asked earlier about multi-agency

20 working, so liaison between agencies.

21 Now, we know you were a very experienced paramedic

22 at the time, a duty station officer employed since 1996,

23 so you'd been employed for nine years by London

24 Ambulance Service at the time.

25 Prior to 7 July 2005, did you ever have inter-agency
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 1 major incident training?

 2 A. Yes, I did. I had attended a number of different table

 3 tops involving the other emergency services and the

 4 other agencies that we potentially are involved with.

 5 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Sorry, "table tops"?

 6 A. Sorry, exercises that are -- a theoretical exercise that

 7 could be involving an incident where you're given

 8 details and, as the exercise goes on, my Lady, it

 9 progresses and you're there to make decisions.

10 MS GALLAGHER: We're aware that multi-agency training

11 appears to happen quite a lot at Gold level, but it does

12 also -- did that happen at Silver level because of your

13 role?

14 A. Yes, that is correct.

15 Q. Was it training which was generally available or was it

16 specifically available because of your role?

17 A. The multi-agency training, the table-top exercises that

18 I was just speaking about, are available to the duty

19 station officers throughout the service.

20 Q. Do you know anything about how or why people are asked

21 to do that training or choose to do that training?

22 A. Some of it is people choose to do it themselves and,

23 others, people are -- for updates and refreshers, it's

24 a mandatory training.

25 MS GALLAGHER: Thank you very much, Mr Swan, I've nothing
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 1 further.

 2 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Just before I ask if there are any

 3 other questions, you agreed with Ms Gallagher, one of

 4 the comments that one of your colleagues had made:

 5 "Communications between myself and that colleague

 6 could have been better."

 7 Was that going back to the fact that there were

 8 problems with the radio and the phones, is that what you

 9 meant by communications could have been better?

10 A. That's correct, my Lady, because where I was standing

11 was a good 200, 300 yards away from the Metropole.

12 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you, yes, Mr Saunders?

13 Questions by MR SAUNDERS

14 MR SAUNDERS: Mr Swan, can I make it very clear at the

15 outset, although I represent two families in respect of

16 this site, her Ladyship has had a number of other topics

17 that have been split amongst various of the teams

18 representing the families. One of the topics that I've

19 been asked to look at is emergency supplies arriving at

20 the scenes. All right? So please do not take anything

21 I'm going to say as being self-critical or critical of

22 yourself. In fact, nothing could be further from the

23 truth in respect of the families that I represent -- all

24 right -- but it's because of this other hat that I'm

25 wearing in order to try to assist her Ladyship. All
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 1 right?

 2 Can I start with this: it's right, isn't it, that

 3 the first officers on the scene could have declared the

 4 major incident?

 5 A. That's correct. Any member of the London Ambulance

 6 Service who performs an emergency function, ie emergency

 7 medical technician, paramedic, team leader, officer,

 8 could declare a major incident.

 9 Q. Is what happened, because of your arrival as the senior

10 man from St John's Wood -- because we know the vast

11 majority of those first on the scene are

12 St John's Wood -- is the position, because you're the

13 senior officer to all of them, that they would

14 automatically look to you?

15 A. That's correct, yes.

16 Q. When the declaration is made of major incident,

17 a different system comes into place in terms of supplies

18 and services coming straight to a scene?

19 A. At the time, and it's -- since 7 July, it's since

20 changed. We didn't have a predetermined attendance for

21 a major incident, but one of the lessons that was

22 identified is that and that has since been changed.

23 Q. I don't want to have a huge detail, but can you explain

24 or remind us, because I think we heard something of it

25 in relation to Aldgate, can you help her Ladyship as to
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 1 what that change would be now?

 2 A. Now, if a major incident is declared, formally declared

 3 now, you get 20 emergency ambulances and I believe it's

 4 10 officers that will be immediately sent to any

 5 declared major incident.

 6 Q. Help us, "officers" meaning what?

 7 A. Sorry?

 8 Q. You said "and 10 officers".

 9 A. Sorry, yes, 10 officers will be 10 duty station officers

10 or above to act as the Silver and Bronze roles.

11 Q. So you don't mean paramedics and EMTs, whatever grade

12 they may be?

13 A. No, no. The 20 ambulances will have paramedic, EMT crew

14 on each vehicles. So you will get 40 members of staff

15 on the ambulances and then you will get 10 officers

16 specifically for the Command structure.

17 Q. Thank you. Can I then ask you, because you've described

18 to us -- and we think we've established -- the ESV, the

19 emergency service vehicle, which it may be Messrs Buck

20 and Chandler were talking about, the big lorry, and

21 her Ladyship has already heard what materials that had,

22 and we've already established it went to Aldgate at some

23 point.

24 Now, is there one vehicle or more than one?

25 A. There's four vehicles throughout the service.
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 1 Q. The reason I ask whether it's the same vehicle that

 2 deals with Aldgate and Edgware Road is because of

 3 a passage in your report where you seem to suggest that

 4 you took what you needed and then it went on elsewhere?

 5 A. That is correct. When the emergency support vehicle

 6 arrived at Edgware Road, we took off what I believed

 7 was -- or being informed was required at the time and,

 8 because I'd also been made aware of what been going on

 9 throughout London that day, the decision was made that

10 we should send it on, as it might be useful to one of

11 the other incident sites.

12 Q. You were trying to assist one of my learned friends

13 before me as to what time the emergency service vehicle

14 arrived. You thought it was about 10.00. You describe

15 that it had on it lighting.

16 A. That's correct.

17 Q. Her Ladyship has already heard evidence from the London

18 Fire Brigade as the lighting having been taken off

19 various of their pumps and ladders to go underground.

20 Did you need lighting, as far as you were aware?

21 A. At this stage, I wasn't aware that lighting was

22 a requirement, no.

23 Q. But it would have been available to you at 10.00 from

24 the emergency service vehicle, if you'd needed it?

25 A. That's correct.
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 1 Q. You've already answered the questions in relation to

 2 whether you were aware of lack of analgesia, and you

 3 weren't made aware of that.

 4 A. Not to the best of my knowledge, no.

 5 Q. But did the emergency service vehicle, as far as you

 6 were aware, carry that additional supply?

 7 A. The only analgesia that the ESV would have carried at

 8 that stage is Entonox, which is the pain-relieving gas

 9 that we carry. But obviously, for legal reasons, it's

10 not allowed to carry the morphine or any of the drugs

11 packs.

12 Q. As far as those who were attending, in your report you

13 deal with knowing about this course at Fulham. There

14 was a paramedic course, I think, going on at Fulham, and

15 part of your suggestion was: well, if we can get those

16 people here, they can assist.

17 A. That's correct, yes, sir.

18 Q. Her Ladyship heard evidence -- I think it was

19 yesterday -- when Ms Boyd asked questions that there

20 were, I think, upwards of, at about this time, 40 London

21 Fire Brigade officers who were able to act as stretcher

22 bearers. Were you aware of that?

23 A. I was aware of a large number of Fire Service personnel

24 there, yes.

25 Q. The extra personnel you were thinking about, were they

62

Hearing transcripts – 25 November 2010 – Morning session

Reproduced courtesy of www.independent.gov.uk/7julyinquests

PDF print version produced & hosted by J7: The July 7th Truth Campaign - www.julyseventh.co.uk



 1 to bear stretchers or to deal with aid required, medical

 2 aid?

 3 A. At the time, I was probably thinking that we could do

 4 with them to assist with the medical aid.

 5 Q. I think her Ladyship asked you a question this morning

 6 about the meetings you have, Silver meetings. The first

 7 one I think was at 10.35.

 8 A. That's correct, to the best of my knowledge, yes.

 9 Q. Why isn't there -- as soon as you're Silver medic, why

10 isn't there an automatic gathering immediately for all

11 the Silvers?

12 A. I think at the time, we were -- I can only speak,

13 obviously, for myself.

14 Q. Of course.

15 A. I was trying to gain exactly what was going on, exactly

16 what I required there from the Ambulance Service

17 perspective.

18 Q. Would there be a lead in terms of the emergency

19 services?

20 A. Yes, generally speaking, it would be the police.

21 Q. Is the reason you needed to have your briefing with

22 officers there before you is to understand what else was

23 required?

24 A. That's correct, yes.

25 Q. I think in your report you specified that there were no
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 1 other or further casualties at the incident site and

 2 that was at 10.38.

 3 A. That's correct, and when I referred to the incident

 4 site, that refers to the train in the tunnel.

 5 Q. It does. Appreciating now what happened on that day, in

 6 terms of the supplies that arrived -- the medical

 7 supplies -- as far as you were concerned, Mr Swan, was

 8 there a significant delay in any further supplies

 9 arriving?

10 A. Looking back on it now, there was a possibility of

11 a delay, but I can't say that for certain.

12 Q. Can you be specific in terms of what sort of medical

13 supplies there may have been a delay for?

14 A. Again, looking back, probably burns dressings.

15 Q. We heard that some of the officers from -- I'm not going

16 to name names -- St John's Wood actually gained access

17 to a cupboard by breaking it, breaking it open. So they

18 obviously took some additional supplies that were

19 on-site at St John's Wood.

20 Could additional supplies have been brought from

21 both that station and the other two that you had overall

22 supervision of?

23 A. Yes, I suppose they could have done.

24 Q. Any reason why not, why it wasn't done that way? We

25 know how quickly they managed to get from
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 1 St John's Wood. It took minutes.

 2 A. No, sorry, I can't think of ...

 3 Q. Was, in fact, St John's Wood empty, because they'd all

 4 attended Edgware Road?

 5 A. At the time, the crews from St John's Wood that weren't

 6 with me at Edgware Road, I couldn't honestly tell you

 7 where they were at the time.

 8 MR SAUNDERS: As I say, Mr Swan, all of those questions

 9 I have prefaced in a different context to the families

10 I represent. Thank you very much for your help. Thank

11 you, my Lady.

12 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you very much, Mr Saunders.

13 Ms Boyd?

14 Questions by MS BOYD

15 MS BOYD: Thank you, Mr Swan. Just a couple of questions on

16 behalf of the London Fire Brigade.

17 We've heard from paramedics and technicians who were

18 on the train that, as soon as they'd stabilised and

19 immobilised casualties and they were ready to be

20 evacuated, there were sufficient numbers of London Fire

21 Brigade and other personnel, LUL and police, to carry

22 stretchers and we understand that the operation of the

23 evacuation ran very smoothly.

24 Was that your understanding?

25 A. Yes, that is my understanding. My understanding was,
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 1 the way the patients were prioritised, as soon as they

 2 were ready, they were extricated from the scene and away

 3 to hospital.

 4 Q. We know that London Fire Brigade also acted as stretcher

 5 bearers at Aldgate. Presumably, would you expect to be

 6 able to rely on London Fire Brigade manpower in this

 7 sort of incident if they're not involved in firefighting

 8 duties or other tasks?

 9 A. Looking -- I suppose, I would kind of rely on them, but

10 as you quite correctly say, as long as they're not

11 engaged in their core function as fire and rescue

12 services.

13 Q. Indeed, we heard from Sub-Officer Loft, I think, who

14 thought he was the first on the train, that he asked the

15 paramedics how they could assist, and they said with

16 stretcher bearing and also lighting. So that would be

17 normal?

18 A. I wouldn't say it would be normal, but I think it's an

19 understanding that we have that we will --

20 Q. The agencies complement each other --

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. -- and use some initiative?

23 A. Absolutely, yes.

24 MS BOYD: Thank you.

25 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Ms Simcock?
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 1 Questions by MS SIMCOCK

 2 MS SIMCOCK: Thank you. Very briefly, Mr Swan, just to try

 3 to help you somewhat with the timing of your declaration

 4 of a major incident in terms of the chronology, when you

 5 arrive, you immediately park up, get out and speak to

 6 a member of London Underground staff and Philip Buck,

 7 a paramedic, although you're not sure which one came

 8 first. Is that right?

 9 A. That's correct, yes.

10 Q. Did you do anything else before calling in to Control to

11 declare a major incident?

12 A. If my memory serves me right, when I arrived, as was

13 previously stated, there were a lot of people coming out

14 of the station as well, and a lot of them, obviously,

15 being in an Ambulance Service uniform, they were coming

16 up to me, and I think by that time I may have been made

17 aware that Marks & Spencers had been opened, so I

18 started to direct people there.

19 Q. So you speak to a London Underground staff member, you

20 speak to Philip Buck, you direct some people to

21 Marks & Spencers, and then you immediately call in

22 a major incident?

23 A. That's correct.

24 Q. Is that right? We know that you arrived at some time

25 shortly after 9.16, because you see Mr Buck's -- you
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 1 speak to Mr Buck and you see his ambulance there and

 2 that's the time he arrived.

 3 In your report made much nearer the time, you

 4 thought you called in by mobile telephone at 9.25 am,

 5 some nine minutes or so later. Is that right?

 6 A. That's my recollection of it, yes.

 7 Q. Because you used your mobile telephone, is it right that

 8 the call may have been logged at the end of your call

 9 and not at the beginning by the operator?

10 A. That is also correct, yes, could well have been.

11 Q. Thank you. Moving on, then, you've been asked about

12 needing further resources. You were clearly up at

13 station level. You never went down to the train. Is

14 that right?

15 A. That's correct, yes.

16 Q. You've talked about the large amount of walking wounded

17 who needed to be dealt with who were coming out of the

18 station, and Mr Saunders, who asked you questions -- the

19 gentleman sitting to your left -- asked you about what

20 you needed people for and you said you thought it was to

21 give medical aid.

22 Were you talking there about more resources to give

23 medical aid to the walking wounded?

24 A. Yes, that's correct. It was for the P3 patients, the

25 priority 3 patients, that we would have had in,
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 1 initially, Marks & Spencers, and then the London

 2 Metropole.

 3 Q. Yes, and because -- we know that the train was cleared

 4 quite quickly from the HEMS doctors going down there at

 5 about 10.24, and it already being cleared of live

 6 casualties, so it seemed that there wasn't a problem

 7 with lack of medical aid on the train. Was that your

 8 impression on the day?

 9 A. That was my understanding at that time, yes.

10 Q. Indeed, you identify in your report, if we could just

11 briefly have up [INQ8565-7], under "Best practice" there,

12 this is where you've been asked to identify lessons

13 identified and you've been taken to some improvements

14 that you've talked about. You also identified some best

15 practice. Is that things that went well?

16 A. Yes, yes, that's correct.

17 Q. There you've identified speedy evacuation of the

18 incident site of all casualties. Were you referring

19 there to the train?

20 A. Yes, that's exactly what I was referring to there.

21 Q. We also know that the entire scene -- that's the

22 station, Marks & Spencers and the Metropole Hotel -- was

23 cleared, you said, by around about midday, of all

24 casualties; that's everyone who needed to go to

25 hospital. Is that right?
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 1 A. That's correct as well.

 2 Q. From your assessment of how many people there were on

 3 the day, was that also a relatively speedy clearing of

 4 the scene?

 5 A. As far as I can remember, yes, it went as quickly as we

 6 could facilitate it.

 7 Q. That was despite any perceived lack of resources on the

 8 day?

 9 A. That is correct. We utilised the assistance from our

10 colleagues in the Metropolitan Police using some of

11 their carriers.

12 Q. Finally, about lessons identified and improvements, were

13 some of the improvements you identified personal

14 learning points for yourself?

15 A. Yes. Some of the ones were. They were self-critical of

16 myself and things that I could have -- or would do

17 better next time.

18 Q. You perhaps were quite hard on yourself, Mr Swan, given

19 what others said about you. Would you accept that?

20 A. Yes, I would accept that as well.

21 MS SIMCOCK: Thank you. Thank you, my Lady.

22 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: I was just thinking, Mr Swan, if,

23 after an incident of this kind, you're asked to fill in

24 these debrief forms and, if months, if not years, later,

25 someone like me comes along and carries out either an
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 1 inquiry or an inquest, is there going to be any kind of

 2 disincentive for people to be self-critical and, as

 3 Ms Simcock has suggested, maybe even overly

 4 self-critical?

 5 I'm just a little concerned that we obviously want

 6 to have frankness after an incident of this kind.

 7 A. I can only speak for myself. Personally, no, I would

 8 fill it in exactly the way I filled it in previously,

 9 my Lady.

10 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any other questions for Mr Swan?

11 Ms Gallagher, I think you'll find Mr Foulkes has

12 a question.

13 Ms Boyd has one. If you want to take instructions.

14 Ms Boyd, if you'd like to put your question while

15 Ms Gallagher --

16 MS BOYD: My Lady, I'm sorry, there was one question

17 I omitted to ask.

18 Further questions by MS BOYD

19 MS BOYD: Mr Swan, I don't know if you can help at all. Are

20 you able to say how many stretchers were actually

21 utilised; in other words, how many stretcher cases there

22 were. We know from your report there were two

23 priority 1 cases, so one assumes that they were

24 stretcher cases --

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. -- and 12 priority 2 cases. Are all priority 2s

 2 stretcher cases?

 3 A. Not necessarily, no. I'm afraid I couldn't give you the

 4 exact number of stretcher cases, I'm sorry.

 5 Q. Would priority 3 not be stretcher cases, can we approach

 6 it from that --

 7 A. Yes, priority 3 are the walking wounded, basically, yes.

 8 Q. Walking wounded. So it's a maximum of 14, depending how

 9 many priority 2 cases were stretcher cases?

10 A. Going by those figures, then, yes.

11 MS BOYD: Thank you very much.

12 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Ms Gallagher, were there any other

13 questions?

14 MS GALLAGHER: Yes.

15 Further questions by MS GALLAGHER

16 MS GALLAGHER: As you know, this is a question from

17 Mr Foulkes.

18 When someone at the LAS, Mr Swan, declares a major

19 incident, does it trigger any awareness with other

20 agencies that that's happened?

21 A. Sorry, how do you mean?

22 Q. So if someone at the LAS declares a major incident, is

23 there any alert for the other emergency services to say

24 LAS have declared a major incident at this scene? So is

25 the London Fire Brigade made aware, are the police made
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 1 aware?

 2 A. I would have made the London Fire Brigade and the police

 3 aware that I was declaring it at Edgware Road.

 4 Q. But that's you personally, rather than any automatic

 5 notification of the other agencies?

 6 A. That one, I'm afraid, I can't answer.

 7 MS GALLAGHER: Thank you.

 8 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Ms Gallagher, it is a point that I do

 9 wish to have pursued, the question of inter-agency

10 liaison. I suspect that it's going to be dealt with

11 when we come to the command and control witnesses, but

12 it's certainly an issue that I understand Mr and

13 Mrs Foulkes' concern.

14 MS GALLAGHER: I'm expecting that that issue is going to be

15 touched on in February. We've touched on it to

16 a certain extent on questioning of some witnesses, but

17 it is something of great importance to some of our

18 clients and we anticipate February will be the time for

19 it to be explored fully.

20 MS SIMCOCK: My Lady, perhaps I can assist?

21 There will be a Gold control witness, whose level it

22 will be decided at, who will be able to speak to what

23 happens exactly in terms of a major incident from the

24 LAS's perspective and how that triggers into other

25 agencies. So it is a Gold control level witness who
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 1 will deal with it.

 2 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Will that witness be able to assist

 3 me on what inter-agency training there is, so that they

 4 will know, if they attend a major incident, who does

 5 what? Will I be able to be helped on the training

 6 aspects as well?

 7 MS SIMCOCK: Yes.

 8 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any other questions for Mr Swan?

 9 Thank you very much, Mr Swan. You obviously played

10 a significant role in organising the proper medical

11 response to the devastating scene that confronted you.

12 Thank you for everything that you did that day.

13 A. Thank you, my Lady.

14 MR HAY: My Lady, I'm not sure whether or not now is

15 a convenient time?

16 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Yes, certainly.

17 (11.35 am)

18 (A short break)

19 (11.50 am)

20 MR KEITH: My Lady, may I invite you to call

21 Christopher Brown, please?

22 PS CHRISTOPHER IAN BROWN (sworn)

23 Questions by MR KEITH

24 MR KEITH: Good morning. Could you give the court your full

25 name, please?
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 1 A. It's Christopher Ian Brown.

 2 Q. Mr Brown, in July of 2005 and, as I can see from your

 3 tunic, now, you were and are a police sergeant?

 4 A. That's right, yes.

 5 Q. On that morning, you were present in Marylebone police

 6 station?

 7 A. I was, yes.

 8 Q. Was your call sign 15DM, DM being the call sign for

 9 Marylebone?

10 A. Yes, that's right.

11 Q. I think you were a section sergeant. What does that

12 mean?

13 A. That means that when the police officers come on duty

14 I allocate what they're going to be doing that day,

15 whether they'll be driving or walking, and any incident

16 that is serious, I would go along and supervise on

17 behalf of the inspector.

18 Q. So you have a team of other officers who look to you for

19 leadership and command function?

20 A. That's right, yes.

21 Q. Whilst you were at Marylebone police station that

22 morning, did you hear over your radio a message

23 referring to an explosion at Edgware Road Tube station?

24 A. That's right, yes, from -- it was from an officer who

25 was there, rather than it coming over the --
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 1 Q. Was it a message from WPC Nancie Powell?

 2 A. It was, yes.

 3 Q. Could we just have on the screen, please, [INQ10114-1]?

 4 At 09.17, 414DM:

 5 "Explosion in Edgware Road London Transport station.

 6 Staff not sure cause. Several casualties. This is on

 7 District & Circle Line."

 8 A. Yes.

 9 Q. Do you recall whether that was the message that you

10 heard?

11 A. The message I recall was that there's something going on

12 at Edgware Road, there's people coming out --

13 Q. Might --

14 A. -- injured.

15 Q. -- that have been the message you heard? Because

16 certainly in your witness statement you refer to having

17 heard a message which referred to an explosion.

18 A. Yes, that would have been the one that I would have

19 responded to.

20 Q. At 09.18.26, we can see the same officer, 414DM, who

21 you'll know is WPC Powell:

22 "One LAS crew on scene. More required."

23 So you may have received that message as well?

24 A. Yes, yes.

25 Q. Together with some other officers, did you decide to go
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 1 straight to Edgware Road Tube station in a marked police

 2 vehicle?

 3 A. Yes, we did.

 4 Q. I think on the way, you saw some sign of smoke --

 5 A. That's right, yes.

 6 Q. -- emanating from the station?

 7 A. Yes, I did.

 8 Q. When you arrived, was there a degree of urgency?

 9 A. Yes, of course there was, yes.

10 Q. Did you run into the station?

11 A. Yes, I would have done, yes.

12 Q. What confronted you?

13 A. We were met by lots of people coming out of the station

14 who were -- had obvious injuries, blackened clothing,

15 burnt faces, some serious injuries, and that's what we

16 were confronted with.

17 Q. What is the priority for a Metropolitan police officer

18 confronted with what was plainly an emergency or

19 a serious incident, putting aside the terminology about

20 a major incident, but obviously it was a serious

21 incident, what's your role?

22 A. The first priority, of course, is to save life and to

23 safeguard life, and then, secondly, we come on to the

24 agencies -- all the agencies have that as their number

25 one priority, and then every other priority differs for
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 1 the separate roles that they do.

 2 Q. So what did you think or suggest that yourself and your

 3 officers could do on arriving shortly after what would

 4 have been about 9.20, I suppose?

 5 A. Some of my officers were administering first aid to

 6 people. My priority was to let the control room know

 7 what was happening, what was going on, that we're going

 8 to need more resources, and just start the ball rolling

 9 to get the right resources there as quickly as we

10 possibly could.

11 Q. Did you speak to your control room and tell them that

12 resources were required and that you were at the scene

13 and about to start an investigation of what was going

14 on?

15 A. I would have -- one of us, I can't remember if it was me

16 or one of the other sergeants in the van, would have

17 said that we were on scene. I remember I ran into the

18 Tube station, spoke to a Fire Brigade officer who told

19 me there had been an explosion. Then I went back out of

20 the Tube station, in order to let the control room know

21 what type of incident it was.

22 Q. Your colleagues have kindly provided a copy of the

23 relevant CADs, the computer-aided dispatch records,

24 relating to Edgware Road. I'm bound to say that

25 I couldn't see a reference to a radio message from 15DM,
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 1 namely, yourself, to that effect. But as you've just

 2 said, is it possible that one of your colleagues would

 3 have been in contact with Control through the radio

 4 network?

 5 A. Yes, one of us would have let them know we had arrived

 6 on scene.

 7 Q. We know from your witness statement that, shortly after

 8 your arrival, you asked one of your colleagues to start

 9 keeping an incident management log?

10 A. That's right, that was PC Godbehere.

11 Q. Why was that necessary?

12 A. Every major incident is part of our training, you carry

13 a log to note down who was doing what, who did what, for

14 later on, for any investigations.

15 Q. We know from the log that it commenced at 09.24. Do you

16 recall whether that was, therefore, something that was

17 commenced very shortly after your arrival?

18 A. Yes, it would have been, once --

19 Q. Before, perhaps, you'd spoken to the Fire Brigade or

20 after?

21 A. I think I would have done it as we were on -- seeing how

22 serious it was, seeing all the injured people, I would

23 have realised then that we needed to start recording

24 what we were doing and I would have told him then,

25 "Let's get it going".
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 1 Q. Having seen a large number of casualties and deemed it

 2 necessary to start an incident management log, and to

 3 phone Control to say, "This is very serious", did you

 4 consider declaring a major incident on your arrival at

 5 the Edgware Road London Underground station?

 6 A. No, I didn't consider that. My first priority was to go

 7 in to assess the situation. I didn't have a clue what

 8 we had then, whether it was something minor or something

 9 major. I needed to assess that before I start calling

10 major incidents.

11 Q. If we could look at the computer-aided dispatch record

12 [INQ10114-1] at 09.23.49, we can see there a message 15DM,

13 that's yourself:

14 "200-metre cordon from Edgware Road Tube station

15 required."

16 So it may be that one of the first things you did

17 after your arrival, Sergeant, was to put in place

18 a cordon --

19 A. Yes, I --

20 Q. -- or to ask for it to be done?

21 A. Yes, I think, once the Fire Brigade officer told me

22 there had been an explosion, I would have -- that would

23 have been one of the first things, to put cordons in.

24 Q. Why?

25 A. So the scene was kept secure, so there was access routes
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 1 for other emergency services, so that members of the

 2 public would be kept away who were coming to try and

 3 have a look, or the press, and, for secondary devices,

 4 to safeguard the public as well.

 5 Q. You've already told us that the main priority is to save

 6 life. You obviously didn't go straight down into the

 7 tunnel yourself --

 8 A. No.

 9 Q. -- and nor did your officers, but you were concerned to

10 put a cordon in place and you've referred to secondary

11 devices.

12 Are these ancillary ways in which life can be

13 preserved as opposed to going straight down to the heart

14 of the incident, namely, the explosion, and seeing what

15 you could do there?

16 A. Yes, I wanted to make sure that the ambulances could

17 come in and out, that the ambulance staff could get to

18 the Tube quickly to save life down in the train.

19 Q. At 09.25.08, a little further down the page, we can see

20 another entry for 15DM:

21 "200-metre cordon around station."

22 So it seems that there was some debate about either

23 the existence of the cordon or the nature of it, whether

24 200 metres was perhaps sufficient. But you deemed it

25 necessary to send two messages about the cordon?
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 1 A. Yes, I can't recall sending two messages.

 2 Q. The log that was kept by your fellow officer

 3 PC Godbehere we can see at [INQ10929-3]. 09.24, PS15DM,

 4 so that's you:

 5 "Clear Chapel Street. Cordons 200 metres back."

 6 So on your arrival, it appears that rather, as I've

 7 said, than going down into the bottom of the station

 8 itself, you addressed what you thought to be the most

 9 important needs at station level: cordons and your

10 officers in amongst the casualties to see whether they

11 could help?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. Was there a degree of confusion as to what exactly had

14 occurred?

15 A. Initially, of course there was, when I turned up. As

16 soon as I spoke to the Fire Brigade officer, he said

17 there had been an explosion. Whether that was

18 a terrorist explosion or something else, I didn't know

19 at that point. It was an explosion and I would deal

20 with it accordingly.

21 Q. They didn't know, or at least they were certainly

22 discussing, whether they should declare a major incident

23 as well, were they not?

24 A. That's right, yes.

25 Q. You hadn't yet declared a major incident, and so, was
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 1 there some debate about who should declare a major

 2 incident and, if so, when?

 3 A. Yes, I do -- after I came out the train station, I spoke

 4 to the Fire Brigade, I think the London Ambulance

 5 Service was there, I can't remember, and I said I was

 6 discussing whether to call it a major incident.

 7 Q. When you say after you went into the station, do you

 8 mean right down to the bottom of the station or just in

 9 the entrance?

10 A. I came to the ticket hall, which is slightly along the

11 corridor, came back out and I spoke to the Fire Brigade

12 then.

13 Q. If we could have [INQ10114-1] on the screen again, at

14 09.25.08 we can see there the entry:

15 "200-metre cordon around station."

16 That's 09.25. Then 09.32, over the page, so eight

17 minutes later, 15DM:

18 "Speaking to London Fire Brigade. Major incident."

19 So some time had elapsed after your arrival before

20 the London Fire Brigade themselves declared a major

21 incident. Do you know what led them to declare a major

22 incident?

23 A. I remember speaking to them, and they told me that there

24 had been attacks all over London and that they were

25 concerned with resources, about whether they declared
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 1 this a major incident or not, and I said, "Well, I'm

 2 going to declare it, on behalf of the police, that it's

 3 a major incident", which I did.

 4 Q. The major incident, according to the CAD, was declared

 5 by DM52, Superintendent Morgan. I think DM52 is

 6 Superintendent Morgan, who arrived on the scene around

 7 that time, but not until 09.39.59, if you just

 8 highlight, please, the bottom entry on that screen,

 9 DM52:

10 "Declare this place major incident."

11 Do you know why there was a further elapse of

12 time -- approximately eight or so minutes -- before the

13 police declared a major incident?

14 A. 09.32 was the first time the police declared a major

15 incident. That was myself.

16 Q. No, that was speaking to the London Fire Brigade, major

17 incident.

18 A. I called up the control room and said it was a major

19 incident.

20 Q. Ah, so that was you expressing or declaring a major

21 incident and it wasn't you saying the Fire Brigade are

22 declaring a major incident?

23 A. No -- yes, I've called up the radio and said -- it was

24 agreed a major incident, but I called up the radio to my

25 control room and said "Look, I'm declaring it a major
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 1 incident".

 2 Q. On behalf of the police?

 3 A. Yes, yes.

 4 Q. Why, then, was it necessary for Superintendent Morgan at

 5 09.39 again to declare the place a major incident?

 6 A. I don't know, perhaps he was reinforcing that it was

 7 a major incident. Maybe he didn't hear my first

 8 transmission. I don't know.

 9 Q. But he's on the same net, is he not?

10 A. He should have been, yes.

11 Q. Were you able to find out, either from the Fire Brigade

12 or from London Underground staff what exactly the nature

13 of the explosion had been?

14 A. No, I don't recall that. I recall just it was an

15 explosion.

16 Q. Were the passengers who were coming off the train able

17 to tell you something of what had occurred, whether it

18 was perhaps confined to one carriage, whether or not

19 there was more than one train involved and so on?

20 A. No. As far as I recall, the passengers that were coming

21 off the train weren't -- they weren't talking, they were

22 all dazed.

23 Q. You record in your statement how, a major incident

24 having been declared and having started to address

25 whether or not you could set up very sensibly a location
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 1 for the triage of casualties, which turned out to be the

 2 Marks & Spencers shop, you decided to go back into the

 3 station to get a better picture of what was happening.

 4 What was it that you needed to find out? What

 5 information did you feel you were lacking in order to

 6 inform you properly as to what decisions needed to be

 7 made?

 8 A. I was making the decisions on top, I needed to know what

 9 was going on, whether they needed -- did I need to send

10 more police officers on to the trains, was there --

11 I didn't have any injured people --

12 Q. To help?

13 A. To help, yes, whether there were enough injured people

14 there, enough people to help the injured people on the

15 trains, and to get an all-round picture.

16 I knew that, very shortly, I would have been

17 relieved by a more senior officer and I would have to

18 give him a briefing and I wanted as much information as

19 I could gather to be able to do that to a reasonable

20 standard.

21 Q. By the time that a major incident was declared by the

22 police at 09.39, the London Underground staff had been

23 in the tunnel for some time and there were a number of

24 paramedics down there. Would it have helped you, as the

25 first senior police officer certainly able to declare
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 1 a major incident, to have had more information as to

 2 what was going on in the tunnel itself, rather than

 3 having to then go down yourself to see what was going

 4 on?

 5 A. Sorry, can you --

 6 Q. Yes, when you arrived and you were trying to find out

 7 more about what had actually happened, would it have

 8 helped you to have had some direct communication from

 9 those who were helping in the tunnel -- members of the

10 London Underground staff, and paramedics and so on -- as

11 to what the position or the situation was so that you

12 wouldn't have to go down yourself to check out the

13 position?

14 A. Yes, yes, of course it would have helped.

15 Q. Did you feel that time was spent, quite a bit of time

16 was spent, trying to find out and get a better picture

17 of what was going on in advance of your more senior

18 officers arriving?

19 A. I think the appropriate amount of time was spent trying

20 to ascertain what was happening, yes.

21 Q. While your arrival was around about 09.20 -- because

22 that's after the radio message from WPC Powell -- and

23 you made an order concerning the cordons at 09.23 -- so

24 you must have been there between those two times,

25 9.20 -- a major incident was declared at 09.39, and your
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 1 superior officers, Chief Inspector Goldby and

 2 Chief Inspector Morgan, arrived about 9.40. But, even

 3 by 9.40, it wasn't absolutely apparent what the nature

 4 of the explosion had been or what facilities or

 5 resources were required.

 6 So 20 minutes or so had passed and you were still

 7 not getting from anybody else the better picture that

 8 you were looking for. Would you agree with that?

 9 A. Yes, yes.

10 Q. The reason I ask is my Lady has already asked other

11 witnesses whether or not some better means of collating

12 information between the different emergency services

13 could have been put in place which would have allowed

14 you a quicker and more accurate means of finding out

15 what exactly the position was below ground.

16 Do you think that would have helped?

17 A. I think it would have, but that would be very difficult

18 to do in those circumstances.

19 Q. What about a radio call from somebody, a paramedic or

20 a member of the London Underground staff, in the tunnel

21 saying, "I'm standing next to the carriage, it's one

22 bombed carriage, there are plainly fatalities here. We

23 need more paramedics, we need stretcher bearers, we need

24 light. Can everybody please at ground level assist in

25 these aims?"
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 1 You would have found that useful because --

 2 A. Yes.

 3 Q. -- you would have then known how to correlate the

 4 arrival and the departure of ambulances and do the

 5 cordons, to facilitate those aims?

 6 A. Yes.

 7 Q. Would you agree with that? Is that a fair comment?

 8 A. It would be helpful, yes, of course it would.

 9 Q. You were, nevertheless, fully occupied in setting up the

10 triage centre at Marks & Spencers.

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Did you send an officer in there to go and sort things

13 out?

14 A. Yes, another sergeant.

15 Q. Do you recall a time that, having set up the triage

16 centre and made arrangements for the very large number

17 of casualties on the station, some other senior police

18 officers arrived?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. Could we have, please, [INQ10929-7], this is your log:

21 "Action/decision.

22 "09.40, Chief Inspector Goldby.

23 "RVP now.

24 "Old DM [old Marylebone Road] Road/Cabbell Street."

25 From your recollection is that a record of the note
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 1 of Chief Inspector Goldby's arrival at 09.40 --

 2 A. Yes.

 3 Q. -- or may have that have just been a decision by him and

 4 he arrived before then?

 5 A. No, I think that reads as that was when he arrived.

 6 Q. At 09.45, [INQ10929-9] we can see Superintendent Morgan

 7 arrives, and the decisions are made about an office

 8 being designated as emergency services liaison and, at

 9 09.46 [INQ10929-10], a decision was made about explosive officers with

10 dogs going into London Underground station to search for

11 improvised explosive devices.

12 You, no doubt, had to take time to explain to

13 Chief Inspector Goldby and Superintendent Morgan, who

14 arrived roughly at the same time, what had gone on, what

15 you knew and what needed to be done?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Did that hinder you or delay you, insofar as you were

18 still trying to direct what your own officers should be

19 doing, either at station level or down below? How long

20 did it take for the Command handover?

21 A. It would have been minutes, I would suggest.

22 Q. Were you confident, as you handed over Command, that the

23 officers that you were directing were properly engaged

24 in doing everything that they needed to do --

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. -- or did things have to stop while the Command

 2 structure passed on?

 3 A. No, I was happy the officers were getting on with what

 4 they had should have been doing.

 5 MR HILL: May I be forgiven for interrupting? I do

 6 apologise.

 7 Just before we go any further in this line of

 8 questioning, an error might have crept in -- it's either

 9 mine or it's not -- but the crime scene log which we're

10 currently looking at I think has been expressed as being

11 this sergeant's crime scene log. Our submission is

12 that, in fact, it's Superintendent Morgan's crime scene

13 log, which, in its original handwritten form, has an INQ

14 reference INQ8537, and that indicates that that log, in

15 Superintendent Morgan's name, was commenced at 09.30 or

16 possibly even earlier at 09.24, and that what fortifies

17 me in suggesting that is that, from the CAD logs,

18 separate documents which we've already looked at, it's

19 been established through earlier questioning --

20 INQ10114 [INQ10114-2] -- that Superintendent Morgan declared a major

21 incident at 09.39.

22 So forgive me for interrupting, but the suggestion

23 that Superintendent Morgan didn't arrive until 9.40 or

24 9.45 we would submit can't be right.

25 MR KEITH: I'm grateful as ever for my learned friend's
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 1 helpful interventions. It may well be that

 2 Superintendent Morgan declared the major incident, but

 3 the suggestion that this log only relates to actions of

 4 Superintendent Morgan cannot be right because the log is

 5 exhibit SG1, our exhibit INQ10929, and the exhibitor of

 6 that log is Mr Godbehere who was the officer who

 7 commenced this officer's log at 09.24, and so it is

 8 a log that relates in fact not only to the actions of

 9 Sergeant Brown but to all the actions of

10 Chief Inspector Goldby and Superintendent Morgan.

11 The point in relation to the declaration of the

12 major incident is a little confused because there are

13 three CADs running in tandem and not all have the same

14 time for the events to which I'm about to come.

15 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: It's hard for me to assess what's

16 going on because what's coming up on my screen are, of

17 course, little excerpts, so I can't work out what

18 document they're coming from anyway.

19 MR KEITH: Could we have on the screen, please, the log

20 which is [INQ10929-1], and go to the first page, please?

21 It's a documentary copy of SG1A, typed copy of

22 exhibit SG1, and SG are the initials for Mr Godbehere,

23 and Godbehere is the officer whom you asked to commence

24 the log at 09.24 according to your evidence. If you go

25 forward one page [INQ10929-2], we will see that the first entry:
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 1 "Incident management log.

 2 "Location ...

 3 "Incident manager: Superintendent Morgan ...

 4 "Log commenced: 09.24", which is the time you asked

 5 him to commence the log. That is why we supposed that

 6 the log was used for both you and Superintendent Morgan.

 7 It may be --

 8 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So these are typed excerpts. Have

 9 they been taken from a handwritten log?

10 MR KEITH: Yes. SG1 is the handwritten log and SG1A is the

11 typed version. Every page has a separate entry. If you

12 move forward one page, please, you'll see that every

13 entry has a separate page.

14 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So they must have been made with the

15 benefit of hindsight, because we get

16 Superintendent Morgan arriving on page 1 as incident

17 manager, when, of course, at the time the log was

18 started, he wasn't there as incident manager. Is that

19 right?

20 A. That's right, my Lady.

21 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: So they would have been handwritten

22 events, 09.24, cordons 200 metres back, but when they're

23 typed, we add a bit?

24 MR KEITH: Perhaps, which -- I don't want to put the boot

25 in -- may undermine the point made by my learned friend.
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 1 So, Sergeant, I was asking you about

 2 Chief Inspector Goldby and Superintendent Morgan. There

 3 was a changeover in command. Were you satisfied that

 4 all that was being done by your junior officers was

 5 carrying on uninterrupted while the chain of command was

 6 passed over to them?

 7 A. Yes, I think there was.

 8 Q. May we take it from what you said, though, that by the

 9 time that they arrived, you still hadn't really got

10 a great deal of information about what was going on at

11 track level, because you, yourself, hadn't been down to

12 track level by the time they arrived?

13 A. No, I hadn't.

14 Q. You had no means of communicating with those who were

15 down at track level?

16 A. No. The only -- it would have been via the fireman who

17 was in the ticket hall, who told me he there had been an

18 explosion.

19 Q. So you were relying to a certain extent on him being

20 informed by his officers and his colleagues as to what

21 was going on and him relaying information to you?

22 A. Absolutely, yes.

23 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: But did he relay anything more than

24 what you've already told me, that he told you there was

25 an explosion? As it were, if he's in contact with
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 1 somebody on the train, or near the train, was he then

 2 relaying to you -- obviously a sergeant trying to set

 3 things up --

 4 A. No, only that there had been an explosion on the train,

 5 and that was the information I was acting on.

 6 MR KEITH: In a different CAD, a different computer-aided

 7 dispatch record, [INQ10115-2], around this time, at

 8 09.43.15, we can see that you, 15DM, made a request for

 9 many officers as possible needed at Cabbell Street.

10 Can you recall what it was that prompted you to make

11 that request of the dispatcher?

12 A. I'm surprised at the time that I made that request.

13 Q. Why?

14 A. I recall making that request over the radio. I thought

15 I made it sooner, once I saw how many injured people

16 were coming out the train station.

17 Q. Because that call, made at 09.43, was over 20 minutes

18 after you'd first arrived?

19 A. That's right.

20 Q. Hence my next question, which is: did you feel,

21 therefore, that you didn't have enough resources for

22 those first 15 minutes or so after your arrival?

23 A. No, there were units arriving all the time.

24 Q. Right.

25 A. Up until there was enough there, there wasn't enough
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 1 there and we needed more.

 2 Q. What were the majority of your officers doing, do you

 3 recall, in those first 20 minutes after your arrival at

 4 09.20? Because you arrived with a section team.

 5 A. Yes, they were going to the cordons, the triage centre

 6 in Marks & Spencers and a lot of them were doing first

 7 aid.

 8 Q. With the casualties at ground level?

 9 A. Yes, other officers, I think, probably went down into

10 the train, but the ones I could see were doing the

11 casualties at ground level because there were some very

12 serious injuries there as well.

13 Q. Did you actually direct officers to go down to the train

14 when you first arrived?

15 A. No.

16 Q. Why was that?

17 A. Because I needed them to be with me to help me to --

18 with the injured people that were coming out the train,

19 to get them moved somewhere else so that there was

20 access into the train by the other emergency services.

21 Q. You were aware that they were there and they were going

22 down to the station, to the track?

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. Did there come a time when members of the London

25 Ambulance Service informed that you one of the other
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 1 tasks that the Metropolitan Police could usefully help

 2 with would be acting as stretcher bearers?

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. Could we have, please, on the screen [INQ10929-11], 09.49:

 5 "To LUL as stretcher bearers for LAS."

 6 Then there are a list of numbers listed. Are those

 7 the numbers for police officers?

 8 A. Yes, they are.

 9 Q. So they're the call signs for each of the police

10 officers?

11 A. Yes, they are, they're shoulder numbers.

12 Q. So their request and your acceptance, or perhaps

13 Superintendent Morgan's acceptance, of the decision, or

14 the request to act as stretcher bearers is noted there.

15 Did a number of your officers then go down to the train?

16 A. Yes, we did.

17 Q. You say "we did" because you went down with them?

18 A. Yes, I did.

19 Q. Did you know how many officers would be required, or was

20 it just a question of putting together as many officers

21 as you could to cover all eventualities?

22 A. Yes, exactly right.

23 Q. Your statement suggests that, in fact, by the time the

24 request was made formally, you'd already jumped the gun

25 in the anticipation that you might be needed to perform
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 1 this role, and so you already had a group of officers

 2 assembled. Is that right?

 3 A. Yes, I did.

 4 Q. You made your way down towards the track and to the two

 5 trains. Was it apparent, when you got down there, that

 6 there were still casualties inside the carriage, the

 7 bombed carriage, who needed to be brought out?

 8 A. Yes.

 9 Q. Could you hear screams?

10 A. That's right, yes.

11 Q. Can you recall -- we know that it must have been after

12 09.49, because that's when the decision for you to go

13 down as stretcher bearers was recorded -- whether there

14 was lighting from the London Fire Brigade?

15 A. I don't think there was any in the carriage itself.

16 I remember the tunnels were light, there was light

17 there, but whether they were from the Fire Brigade

18 lights or the tunnel lights, I can't remember.

19 Q. Did you approach the train where you saw paramedics and

20 firemen working on casualties inside the bombed train?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. I think as you arrived, one of the first people you saw

23 was a woman lying on the floor with very severe injuries

24 to her legs, I think that lady is Alison Sayer. Was

25 that outside the tunnel -- outside the train on the
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 1 track floor next to the tunnel wall?

 2 A. Yes, there was a lady there, yes.

 3 Q. Did you speak to the firemen and try to get an

 4 understanding of how many fatalities there had been?

 5 A. I didn't do that straightaway, but that did happen, yes.

 6 Q. Was that because straightaway you were dealing with the

 7 lady who was injured lying on the track?

 8 A. Straightaway, me and the team went up to the preceding

 9 carriage and I looked in, I could see there was all the

10 work going on on the casualties. Rather than all of us

11 bowling in, I told my officers to stay there, I went in

12 to see if they needed any help, who needed help, what

13 help they needed, and it was all in hand, and I came

14 back out again.

15 Q. Did you get the impression that everybody who was

16 injured and still alive was receiving medical attention

17 and receiving attention of some sort?

18 A. Yes, they were.

19 Q. Having told them that you were ready and available to

20 act as stretcher bearer, it was a question of waiting

21 for them to call on you?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. Did you gain some understanding of the full extent of

24 what had occurred?

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. Who told you about it?

 2 A. It was a Fire Brigade officer I spoke to.

 3 Q. Did he give you some information about the number of

 4 casualties and the particular number of fatalities?

 5 A. Yes, he did.

 6 Q. It was a very bad situation, was it not?

 7 A. It was, yes.

 8 Q. How long, do you recall, did you have to wait in

 9 order -- wait before you were called upon to help with

10 the stretcher bearing?

11 A. It's difficult. Time goes so quickly in these

12 situations. But it would have been perhaps minutes. It

13 certainly wasn't 15, 20 -- 10, 15, 20 minutes. It

14 was -- I remember it was reasonably quickly.

15 Q. Could we have [INQ10929-15] on the screen. At 09.56, the

16 incident management log records:

17 "PC857DM. 10 fatalities so far."

18 Was PC857DM one of your junior officers or one of

19 the officers in your section?

20 A. Yes, he would have been.

21 Q. Does that seem to indicate that you must have sent him

22 back up to ground level in order to report to

23 Superintendent Morgan what you'd been told about the

24 number of fatalities?

25 A. Yes, I did send an officer up.
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 1 Q. Your statement says that you asked PC Chadee to go back

 2 to the ground level, but I think PC857DM might be

 3 PC Wood?

 4 A. Yes, that's right, yes.

 5 Q. So it may be PC Wood who went back up?

 6 A. I recall it was PC Chadee who was sent up.

 7 Q. In any event, the information got its way to the Command

 8 structure at ground level.

 9 A. Yes.

10 Q. Could you tell us, please, what you did to help with the

11 stretcher bearing?

12 A. We -- when the ambulance crew and the Fire Brigade were

13 ready for someone to come out, I went in, helped take

14 them out, passed it over to the other officers, and we

15 set up a system where the stretchers could be taken out

16 and up to the ground level.

17 Q. Were the number of police officers that you had

18 available, as well as members of the Fire Brigade who we

19 know were there as well, sufficient to deal with the

20 very large number of casualties requiring stretchers?

21 A. Yes, at that point we worked very well together and --

22 Q. Your statement records -- I don't know whether you can

23 recollect this -- that one of the points that you asked

24 Mr Chadee to go up and tell Superintendent Morgan was

25 not just that there were ten fatalities, but that more
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 1 stretcher bearers were required. Do you recall that?

 2 A. Yes, I do, I do recall that.

 3 Q. Do you remember further officers or other people

 4 arriving in order to help with that?

 5 A. I recall other officers arriving, but I don't know --

 6 I can't recall whether they were -- they came after the

 7 injured people had been taken out or before.

 8 Q. Was light made available, ever, in the carriage when you

 9 were bringing the stretchers out of it?

10 A. Yes, there was light then, yes.

11 Q. Do you recall how long during the -- when in the process

12 of recovery of the casualties lights were made

13 available?

14 A. No, I can't, sorry.

15 Q. Did you stay down on the train in order to coordinate

16 the evacuation?

17 A. I did, yes.

18 Q. Did you stay until all the casualties had been removed?

19 A. Yes, I did.

20 Q. Then what became the priority, as far as the

21 Metropolitan Police were concerned and your own role?

22 A. It was the future investigation into what had happened,

23 who had done it. So I wanted to secure the scene as

24 best I could to preserve forensic evidence.

25 Q. How did you do that?
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 1 A. I put an officer on each end of the train so that

 2 anybody coming in and out the train would be -- details

 3 would be taken so we would know in case they were needed

 4 later on.

 5 Q. After you had started to secure the scene, do you recall

 6 the arrival of a HEMS doctor? We've heard some evidence

 7 from another witness who suggests that a HEMS doctor

 8 arrived quite a long time after your arrival and asked

 9 to be allowed access to the scene for the purposes of

10 ascertaining whether or not life was extinct in relation

11 to those persons who died in the carriage.

12 Do you remember such a person arriving?

13 A. Yes, I do, yes.

14 Q. What did you understand their request to be?

15 A. They wanted to go in to the carriage to make sure that

16 there was only fatalities left there.

17 Q. As far as you were aware, were they allowed to proceed?

18 A. Yes.

19 Q. What did you tell them?

20 A. I said that they had to -- as long as they gave their

21 details to the officer at the end of the carriage, that

22 would be fine.

23 Q. I appreciate it's a long time now since the events

24 of July 2005, but do you recollect what time you,

25 yourself, came out of the tunnel and back up to ground
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 1 level?

 2 A. No, I'm sorry, I don't.

 3 MR KEITH: Sergeant, thank you very much, that's been very

 4 helpful. There may be some further questions for you.

 5 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Ms Gallagher?

 6 Questions by MS GALLAGHER

 7 MS GALLAGHER: I just have a number of short matters.

 8 Firstly, in terms of the time at which the major

 9 incident was declared, you've described with reference

10 to the [INQ10114-2] -item at 09.32 that that wasn't the

11 London Fire Brigade declaring a major incident; it's you

12 declaring it on behalf of the police whilst speaking to

13 the London Fire Brigade.

14 A. Yes.

15 Q. There's another item which also appears to support that.

16 Could you go to [INQ10115-2]? It's an entry at 09.33.04.

17 Just at the top of the page, it says:

18 "LFB. This has now been declared as a major

19 incident."

20 That's from 15DM. Is that also a reference to you

21 indicating that a major incident has been declared on

22 behalf of the police, but also referring to your

23 conversation with the London Fire Brigade, is that

24 right?

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. In your statement, it appears that, when you speak to

 2 the London Fire Brigade, they were discussing whether to

 3 declare it as a major incident but you were decisive,

 4 told them it was a major incident, and that you were

 5 going to declare it so. Is that your memory?

 6 A. They had concerns because they obviously knew about the

 7 other attacks in London, whereas I didn't at that point,

 8 so they were concerned about the resources that they

 9 had.

10 Q. Just one other matter I want to touch on. It's about

11 lighting. You've been asked some questions about it.

12 You've said today that you remember, when entering the

13 tunnel, that there was some lighting, you weren't sure

14 where it was coming from, and then you've also said that

15 you're sure there was light at some point when the

16 stretchers were being removed.

17 In your statement, which was given on 9 July 2005,

18 you say that, when you approached the bombed carriage,

19 it was in darkness. What you say is:

20 "As we approached the carriage where the explosion

21 had happened, I could see it was in darkness."

22 So you were sure at the time that you made the

23 statement that, when you arrived at the bombed carriage,

24 it was dark, is that right?

25 A. Yes, darkness. You could still see what was happening,
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 1 it wasn't pitch black, but, yes, that's correct.

 2 Q. There was some dim light by which you could see --

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. -- but certainly the London Fire Brigade lights weren't

 5 on at that point?

 6 A. No, not that I recall.

 7 Q. We know from your statement and also from what you've

 8 said today, just running through the chronology, that

 9 when you get to the bombed carriage, it's after you've

10 been informed that stretcher bearers are needed, and

11 it's when the stretcher bearing process is starting.

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. So you've told us you can't assist with how long it was

14 before the lights come on, but do you recall if it was

15 near the start of that process with the stretchers being

16 removed or towards the end of it?

17 A. I can't recall I'm afraid, I'm sorry.

18 MS GALLAGHER: I've nothing further. Thank you very much

19 for your assistance.

20 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Thank you, Ms Gallagher.

21 Mr Saunders?

22 MR SAUNDERS: Nothing, thank you, my Lady.

23 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any questions? Mr Hill?

24 Questions by MR HILL

25 MR HILL: We're hearing from Superintendent Morgan I think
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 1 this afternoon, so I shan't dwell on this, but just so

 2 that we've extracted all the assistance you can give, in

 3 the sense that it's being suggested -- if we could have

 4 [INQ10929-9], please, at 09.45 -- that that record is of the

 5 arrival of Superintendent Morgan at 09.45, can you help

 6 one way or the other as to when the superintendent got

 7 there?

 8 A. It would be either 09.45 or some point shortly before

 9 that.

10 Q. Right. Thank you. Can we then go back to INQ10114,

11 please? At page 2 [INQ10114-2], we should have entries, including

12 09.39.05, and that entry, six minutes before the log

13 entry we've just looked at, appears, does it not, to

14 show Superintendent Morgan ascribed the role of Gold at

15 this scene at 09.39?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Can we go back to page 1 [INQ10114-1] in that same CAD? This is the

18 printout for CAD number 2495, and just on that first

19 page, I wonder if we could go to 09.17.46 and then look

20 at just the successive entries.

21 We understand, Sergeant -- is this right -- that DM

22 is the collar number for Marylebone officers, so

23 wherever we see numbers followed by DM we know that's

24 a Marylebone Metropolitan police officer?

25 A. That's correct, yes.
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 1 Q. We already know, courtesy of earlier questions, that 414

 2 is WPC Powell, a Marylebone officer.

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. If we come down to 09.19.30, 857DM, Police Constable

 5 Thomas Wood, Marylebone. At 09.19.49, 160DM, Woman

 6 Police Constable Clare Richards at Marylebone. At 09.21

 7 exactly, 225DM, Police Constable Zappe, I think,

 8 a fellow officer of yours from Marylebone. Is that

 9 right?

10 A. That's right, yes.

11 Q. Constable Richards again at 09.21.34. Constable Brown

12 again at 09.22.54 -- sorry, Constable Wood again,

13 forgive me, and then yourself at 09.23.49.

14 So all of those officers were present at this scene

15 in that period between 09.17 and 09.23.

16 A. That's right, yes.

17 Q. You got from Marylebone police station to Edgware Road,

18 do we understand, partly in a vehicle and partly on

19 foot? How did you get there?

20 A. From vehicle. I was at the police station, which is not

21 that far away, parked outside the train station and ran

22 in across the road on toot.

23 Q. The distance from the police station to Edgware Road,

24 can you approximate that?

25 A. It's not very far at all. A mile, a mile and a half.
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 1 Q. Right. Then, just to complete our list of names --

 2 perhaps we don't need the document on screen -- but

 3 I would suggest from collar numbers 82DM was

 4 PC Godbehere, who became the loggist, who completed the

 5 incident management log?

 6 A. His number wouldn't have been 82.

 7 Q. Forgive me, that's probably my mistake. You're right.

 8 PC248 would be Godbehere. Sergeant Donoghue would be

 9 82DM?

10 A. That's right, yes.

11 Q. Sergeants tend to have two numbers; constables have

12 three?

13 A. Yes.

14 MR HILL: Thank you very much. Yes, thank you.

15 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Any other questions for the sergeant?

16 Thank you very much, Sergeant Brown, and thank you

17 for all you did to coordinate the evacuation of the

18 civilians. I'm sorry I had to ask you to relive what

19 you saw.

20 A. Thank you.

21 MR KEITH: Thank you, my Lady. May I invite you to call

22 Assistant Divisional Officer Davies, please?

23 ADO ALAN GEORGE DAVIES (sworn)

24 Questions by MR KEITH

25 MR KEITH: Good morning.
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 1 A. Good morning.

 2 Q. Could you give the court your full name, please?

 3 A. Yes, Alan George Davies.

 4 Q. Mr Davies, in July of 2005, were you an assistant

 5 divisional officer, in fact the station manager, at

 6 Paddington fire station?

 7 A. That's correct, sir.

 8 Q. Employed, of course, by the London Fire Brigade.

 9 Your statement records how you became aware around

10 about 9.00 that crews from your red watch were attending

11 what was recorded in the computer system as a "fire and

12 explosion at Praed Street". But did you, yourself,

13 receive a pager message about the same incident?

14 A. That's correct.

15 Q. Could we have on the screen [LFB7-2], 09.09.13? We can

16 see:

17 "Information information information."

18 Towards the bottom of that entry:

19 "A21 ..."

20 Was that your call sign?

21 A. That's my call sign.

22 Q. "... page."

23 Pager?

24 A. Pager -- paged, yes.

25 Q. "A21 AS ADO."
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 1 Assistant Divisional Officer is ADO, I don't know

 2 what AS is?

 3 A. It's at Alpha 21, which -- Alpha 21 is Paddington fire

 4 station, so I was at Paddington fire station that

 5 morning --

 6 Q. That's where you were being paged?

 7 A. -- "as" -- and my role is as ADO which is Assistant

 8 Divisional Officer.

 9 Q. It says "as"?

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. Why were you being paged?

12 A. I believe there was an informative before that. I've

13 got on my page at 09.04 that I was informed, I was

14 formally informed by our Control that my appliances were

15 attending a fire and explosion in Praed Street, and that

16 time lag from 09.04 to 09.09 would be the time of me

17 answering my pager, saying, yes, I understand I had been

18 informed, and that I would be -- I decided to attend.

19 Q. This is the MOBIS report for Praed Street, but for some

20 reason there isn't, in fact, an entry around 09.04 for

21 that first pager. Is it possible that you were paged

22 generally outside the confines of this particular

23 incident report?

24 A. It was particularly -- no, it was --

25 Q. It was the Praed Street one that you were --
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 1 A. It was the Praed Street incident. I wasn't paged to

 2 attend. I was just paged to inform me that there was an

 3 incident of note occurring on my station's ground.

 4 Q. So you set out from Paddington in a Brigade appliance of

 5 some sort?

 6 A. In my own vehicle, car.

 7 Q. Does that have lights and sounds?

 8 A. It has a magnetic light on the top and two-tone sirens.

 9 Q. On the way to Praed Street, did you try to ascertain

10 from control more information about what exactly the

11 incident consisted of?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. Were you successful?

14 A. Eventually, yes. I -- our normal procedure is to, if

15 I'm mobilised to an incident, is to ring our Control

16 straightaway and inform them that I'm going to be

17 attending so they can book me on to the incident, and

18 then I drive to the incident and do whatever is

19 necessary there. But on this day, there was a slight

20 delay in contacting our Control. The -- either the

21 phone wasn't being answered or it was busy. But I did

22 manage to get hold of them en route to the incident.

23 Q. Can you recall what more information you were given

24 prior to your arrival?

25 A. It was very brief, "Be aware, a number of incidents are
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 1 happening on the Underground this morning".

 2 Q. The incidents were happening on the Underground --

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. -- but you were being directed to Praed Street.

 5 A. Yes.

 6 Q. Praed Street is not, of course, the address for the

 7 Underground, although there is a vent near Praed Street

 8 which had led to the smoke emanating from the track

 9 which is what the residents in number 73 Praed Street

10 had reported to the Fire Brigade.

11 A. That's what we found out subsequently, yes.

12 Q. You found out subsequently. To jump ahead, we know that

13 yourself and your colleagues who went to Praed Street

14 had to then go on to Edgware Road, because it was plain

15 there was nothing happening at Praed Street?

16 A. Some of us did, yes.

17 Q. Some of you did. Some appliances were delayed in

18 leaving, and I think one of the appliances stayed there,

19 A212, until 34 minutes past 9.

20 Would further information on the way to Praed Street

21 as to the nature of the incident have assisted you,

22 because you could have presumably gone straight to

23 Edgware Road if you'd known that's where the Underground

24 station involving the incident was?

25 A. Although I had information of a number of incidents on
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 1 the Underground, my concern was the fire and explosion

 2 that we had in Praed Street. It's an unusual call. It

 3 doesn't happen very often. So I was concerned that

 4 something had happened there, and I wanted to find out

 5 what had happened there before we went anywhere else,

 6 and it wasn't an indication of Edgware Road at that

 7 time.

 8 Q. Quite so. My point is to you it subsequently transpired

 9 that there was no incident at Praed Street; it was

10 connected to the Edgware Road incident --

11 A. That's correct.

12 Q. -- but help was needed at Edgware Road, not at

13 Praed Street?

14 A. That's correct.

15 Q. It would obviously have been beneficial if the

16 information in the hands of some of the other emergency

17 services by 9.10, that the incident was at Edgware Road

18 had been communicated to you, a senior officer going to

19 take command of the Fire Brigade response?

20 A. That would have helped.

21 Q. Indeed, are you aware that one of the issues addressed

22 by your colleagues at a senior level in the Fire Brigade

23 was the fact that erroneous information or, rather,

24 information from 999 calls was, because of the nature of

25 the incident occurring on the Underground, not
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 1 cross-checked sufficiently to be able to locate

 2 precisely the location of the incident? Is that

 3 something you were involved in afterwards in analysing

 4 this issue?

 5 A. I'm not aware of that, no, I'm not aware of that.

 6 Q. Could I show you, please, something, a document

 7 [LFB49-31], and, key point, kp14:

 8 "Unusually, there were very few 'multiple calls'

 9 from the public. This lack of calls reduced the ability

10 of control staff to verify information by cross-checking

11 incoming calls. This type of information could have

12 been available from the other agencies and there is

13 a need to consider this further. Having an officer

14 deployed to SO13 [that's formerly Anti-terrorism Branch]

15 at New Scotland Yard provided additional information not

16 usually available, but problems with both mobile and

17 landline phones prevented some of this getting through."

18 Were you aware of a debate afterwards as to the way

19 in which the system for providing information as to the

20 exact location of an incident had worked on 7/7 insofar

21 as the Fire Brigade were concerned?

22 A. I have not been party to those conversations and that's

23 the first time I've seen that document.

24 Q. I won't trouble you further with that, then. When you

25 arrived, a number of your colleagues were there
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 1 including a Sub-Officer McKay, who was the officer in

 2 charge of appliance A211?

 3 A. That's correct.

 4 Q. You no doubt discussed with him and your colleagues what

 5 the purpose of the attendance had been?

 6 A. Yes, my role was to assist the Incident Commander in

 7 a monitoring officer role and just give him any advice

 8 and support I can.

 9 Q. How long did you remain at that scene at Praed Street?

10 A. I've thought about that sort of time lag

11 considerably over the last couple of weeks --

12 Q. I'm sure.

13 A. -- and since the incident. It's very difficult to tie

14 it down exactly what it -- the time difference was.

15 I found out, subsequent from the incident, a few more

16 details around the times that we received a further call

17 to Edgware Road, which we decided to treat as a separate

18 incident, and after that, and after I was happy at

19 Praed Street that there was nothing major going on

20 there, that the sub-officer could deal with it, that's

21 when I decided to leave him.

22 Q. I don't know whether you've been shown these entries,

23 but these might assist, and I would be grateful for your

24 help as to what they mean. [LFB7-2], at 09.18 -- I've

25 fallen into the trap of others by having the wrong
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 1 reference, but if you go over the page, please, to

 2 page 3 [LFB7-3], at 09.18:

 3 "Standby standby standby. G282 from G28 standby at

 4 A21. A21 Paddington."

 5 Is that just a reference to the location Paddington

 6 and no reference to you?

 7 A. That's no reference to me. That's -- Golf 282 is

 8 Willesden fire station's pump, and they're asking them

 9 to stand by at Paddington fire station for fire cover.

10 Q. All right, so although your call sign was A21, that was

11 because you were an ADO at Paddington?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. Those aren't entries referring to you personally?

14 A. The station commander at the station has the same call

15 sign as the station itself.

16 Q. Anyway, some time lapsed before you realised that you

17 were better employed at Edgware Road than the

18 Praed Street --

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. -- and you left to go to Edgware Road. When you

21 arrived, did you become aware of how many of your

22 Fire Brigade colleagues were there already?

23 A. There were none there when I first arrived there in my

24 car.

25 Q. We know from other evidence before my Lady that the
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 1 first Fire Brigade appliance, G272 from

 2 North Kensington, arrived at the scene at 09.18.58, just

 3 before 09.19. If there had been a fire appliance there

 4 from any station -- Paddington or North Kensington --

 5 would you have seen it?

 6 A. As I arrived, yes. Yes, I would have done.

 7 Q. But you don't recall seeing one when you arrived?

 8 A. No, it wasn't there.

 9 Q. But there was certainly police and paramedics there.

10 What was your priority on your arrival?

11 A. My first priority was to find out if anything had

12 happened here, whether I'd got the correct Edgware Road

13 station. I literally parked about 10 metres past the

14 entrance and walked back in to the entrance, and our

15 normal procedures at an LUL station is that we're met by

16 a responsible person from LUL in their orange jerkins

17 and we get as much information as we can from those

18 individuals.

19 Q. But it was obvious that there was something very serious

20 occurring because of the number of injured passengers

21 coming up on to the station level.

22 A. From outside the station, there was probably about 15 to

23 20 people just stood there, nothing majorly unusual

24 about that. It's only when I looked into the foyer area

25 and I could see the injured being treated on both sides
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 1 of the foyer area.

 2 Q. So as soon as you walked in, you were no doubt aware

 3 that there had been a serious incident of some sort?

 4 A. Yes.

 5 Q. Did you receive a degree of information from the

 6 London Underground staff that you spoke to, enough for

 7 you to be able to assess what to do?

 8 A. No.

 9 Q. Why not? What was lacking?

10 A. The -- I did bombard the individual with a considerable

11 number of questions that we asked. Firstly, what's

12 happened, is the power off, have the trains been

13 stopped? I got information that there had been some

14 sort of power surge/electrical explosion. That was

15 making me think then sort of bomb, and one of my queries

16 there was regarding were casualties suffering from

17 anything other than blast injuries, ie CBRN, that was my

18 thoughts.

19 I got some information about that there had been an

20 incident on the train, but no information as to where it

21 was, what number of trains were involved, so I asked the

22 individual to "Go back and come back to me as soon as

23 you can get all that information".

24 Q. Could we have on the screen [INQ8457-2]? This is a report

25 that you made following the events of 7 July. In that
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 1 second major paragraph, if you could enlarge it, you set

 2 out in the second half of that paragraph how you

 3 attempted to find out more information:

 4 "I asked if the power was still on ... She could not

 5 confirm either way ... I asked if there was a fire ...

 6 I asked for further information on the location ... but

 7 she had very little further information ..."

 8 She had no information on whether there were further

 9 incidents and whether or not it was possible to

10 determine from the nature of the injuries whether there

11 had been a dirty bomb.

12 Would it be fair to say, Assistant Divisional

13 Officer, that you were a little better informed but none

14 the wiser, after your arrival, as to what exactly had

15 occurred in the track below the station?

16 A. That's correct.

17 Q. Would further information, directly by radio or

18 otherwise, from the people who were already down on the

19 track have been of assistance to you on your arrival?

20 A. Further quality information would have been useful.

21 Q. During this time, there were presumably people beginning

22 to come up from the platforms and a stream of

23 passengers, and with an increasing degree of injury,

24 coming out at station entrance level?

25 A. There was a steady flow, not a stream, it was coming up
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 1 in one or two at a time.

 2 Q. What did you do?

 3 A. After I'd asked for that information from the LUL staff,

 4 I then came back from the station and I think it's at

 5 that stage that Golf 272, North Kensington's pump

 6 ladder, the fire engine from North Kensington arrived

 7 with Brett Loft in charge. I went straight over and

 8 spoke to him.

 9 Q. I didn't catch the name of the officer to whom you

10 spoke?

11 A. Sub-Officer Loft, Brett Loft.

12 Q. Ah yes, Mr Loft. We heard from him. He said he raised

13 with you the issue of lighting. Do you recall that, an

14 issue as to whether or not lighting was required?

15 A. Not at that early stage.

16 Q. Not at that early stage. Later on, do you recall some

17 conversation?

18 A. We discussed it later on, yes.

19 Q. Right. So he arrived and you no doubt spoke to him.

20 Did you tell him what it was that you'd been able to

21 find out so far?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. Not very much?

24 A. Not very much.

25 Q. Then what happened?
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 1 A. I explained to him that I was considering CBRN,

 2 a possible terrorist incident, and that we didn't want

 3 to commit crews straightaway, that what I needed him to

 4 do was get his crews ready with breathing apparatus

 5 until I decided on the correct level of -- PPE we call

 6 it, personal protective equipment.

 7 Whilst I was briefing Mr Loft, North Kensington's

 8 second appliance arrived with Station Officer U'Chong in

 9 charge.

10 Q. Was it around this time that you decided that it was

11 appropriate to declare a major incident?

12 A. Not at this stage, no.

13 Q. So later?

14 A. Later.

15 Q. Why did you not declare a major incident, despite what

16 had obviously become apparent to you, even by then and

17 the little information you had, that there had been an

18 explosion of some sort and a large number of casualties?

19 A. I'd seen a number of casualties at the head of the

20 staircase, I'd seen a number coming up there. I was

21 considering major incident from the Fire Brigade point

22 of view, what resources we needed, and whether that

23 would cover it or whether we needed additional to that.

24 So that was a thought process that was going on in my

25 mind whilst I was talking to Station Officer U'Chong,
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 1 but I hadn't made a decision yet on that.

 2 Q. Did that require you to consider what exactly the

 3 Fire Brigade could help with?

 4 A. Firstly, what the incident is, and then what we can do

 5 to assist, what's the best use of our resources.

 6 Q. What conclusions, if any, had you reached as to how you

 7 might be able to assist?

 8 A. At that stage, very little. I was expecting to use our

 9 cutting equipment, spreading equipment, if there was any

10 chemical, our breathing apparatus, and at the time --

11 I hadn't seen a paramedic at that time -- was to get

12 a casualty handling area set up to deal with those

13 casualties that were coming out the top of the stairs.

14 Q. It was obvious that the casualties were coming from

15 a train, was it not? There were a large number of

16 injured people and casualties and smoke, and

17 soot-darkened faces coming from a point somewhere in the

18 station?

19 A. That I would have assumed, yes, I wouldn't have assumed

20 just from the train, it could have been on the platform

21 area, anywhere.

22 Q. All right. You've told us just a few moments ago that

23 there was some debate in your mind as to whether or not

24 to commit crews straightaway, and you did so just after

25 mentioning the possibility of a dirty bomb.
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 1 What was it that led you to decide that it would be

 2 unwise to commit crews straightaway? Was it the

 3 possibility of a dirty bomb or because it wasn't yet

 4 clear how your crews could help, cutting and so on, and

 5 rescue work and so on, or a mixture of the two?

 6 A. It was a combination of both those scenarios, yes. One,

 7 my training had told me that -- was to expect CBRN at

 8 a terrorist incident, and, two, I just didn't want to

 9 sort of flood the platform with personnel. I wanted

10 some key objectives for them to go down there and

11 a clear plan in my head of what they were going to do.

12 Q. Did that require sending somebody down to go and have

13 a look?

14 A. Eventually, it did.

15 Q. Why "eventually"? Why not straightaway?

16 A. I was then in -- I was trying to gather as much

17 information as I could. I did pull away slightly

18 because, by that stage, I hadn't got my fire gear on,

19 I had to go back to my car and get my fire gear on.

20 I came back, I detailed Station Officer U'Chong to

21 liaise with the police, LAS and LUL to gather as much

22 information as possible, because what I had to give was

23 very, very little.

24 Q. Why could you not ask Mr U'Chong to go straight down to

25 the source of the casualties, the location where they
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 1 were coming from, to see for himself what was going on

 2 and then perhaps radio you with the conclusion of his

 3 search?

 4 A. Because my consideration there was a CBRN, a terrorist

 5 incident.

 6 Q. Was there anything about the casualties that indicated

 7 such a dirty bomb?

 8 A. The only training we'd had was individuals coming out

 9 with streaming noses and disorientated, fainting. Yes,

10 those things were going on, but --

11 Q. Your training told you those were the signs, or one of

12 the signs, of a dirty bomb: fainting, collapse,

13 disorientation?

14 A. Signs we were looking for, yes.

15 Q. Could you see soot-stained faces emerging from the

16 platforms at this stage or not?

17 A. There were -- I did see individuals coming out with

18 soot-stained faces, yes.

19 Q. Could you see people fainting as they reached ground

20 level?

21 A. I could see people very unsteady on their feet and

22 needing assistance to exit the station.

23 Q. So Mr U'Chong liaised with your fellow emergency

24 services to see if he could garner more information.

25 Was he away for a while or was that a rapid process?
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 1 A. I did also ask him to get the -- there's a plans

 2 information box at the front of the station which

 3 carries plans of the station layout, which is set up

 4 there for London Fire Brigade. I asked him to gather

 5 them, and then what information he could get from the

 6 police and BTP.

 7 I also spoke to Met Police, BTP and eventually one

 8 of the paramedics.

 9 Q. How long, Officer, did this process of trying to liaise

10 with London Underground, the police, London Ambulance

11 Service, to find out what was going on take before

12 a fire officer, Fire Brigade officer, was actually sent

13 down to have a look?

14 A. On the day, it seemed to go very quickly, but I've

15 looked since and it did take -- I'm still not

16 100 per cent certain of when the first crews were

17 committed there, but --

18 Q. The CCTV, incomplete though it is, seems to suggest that

19 Fire Brigade crews didn't, in fact, go past the end of

20 the platform and onto the track until 09.44. It may be

21 inaccurate, I don't want to place too much weight on it,

22 but if that time is right, it was almost 50 minutes

23 after the bomb, almost an hour after the bomb, and

24 certainly over half an hour after your arrival. But

25 your own research may have thrown up a different answer,
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 1 I don't know.

 2 A. I saw that CCTV footage on Monday. The first thing that

 3 confused me there is the area coming in from, because

 4 when I went down at about three-quarters of an hour into

 5 the incident myself, I came in from the eastbound

 6 platform and turned right onto the tracks.

 7 Q. I acknowledge that the CCTV is incomplete, but when do

 8 you think crews from your command first went down onto

 9 the track?

10 A. I've looked at the CCTV as well, I briefed

11 Sub-Officer Loft to go down with a -- as I thought it

12 was, two crews of two firefighters. I asked him to drop

13 their breathing apparatus at that stage, following

14 a conversation I'd had with a paramedic, and that --

15 I believe they went through the lobby area there of the

16 station at 09.28, I think it was.

17 Q. That was the lobby area.

18 A. Mm-hmm.

19 Q. But did they not delay further, was there not a pause at

20 the platform level before they actually went on to the

21 train?

22 A. I don't know -- from there, I don't know what time they

23 got down there. I got information back of some

24 equipment they needed, but it wasn't -- I've got no

25 indication of what time they actually arrived at the
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 1 platform.

 2 Q. You were, certainly in the initial stage, with respect,

 3 the Commander. You were replaced, at some point we'll

 4 come to in a moment, by Divisional Officer Chidgey.

 5 Are you a bit surprised, in hindsight, having

 6 endeavoured to see what the timing was, that there

 7 doesn't appear to have been a record as to what time

 8 exactly the crews did go to the heart of the incident,

 9 the location of the bomb?

10 A. Are you suggesting like a decision log?

11 Q. Either a decision log or some way of determining what

12 time officers were sent down and what time they did

13 arrive at the point of the explosion.

14 A. At that time, we did not record our decisions.

15 Q. Are they recorded now?

16 A. No, I believe we're in the process of taking on that,

17 but at the moment we haven't.

18 Q. Could I ask you, please, to look at [LFB87-2]? Do you

19 recognise this?

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. What is it?

22 A. This was some notes that I typed up on 8 July, the day

23 after.

24 Q. The following day. Halfway down the page, you refer to:

25 "Sub-Officer Morgan - pressure from FFS to access:
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 1 answer no."

 2 What is that a reference to?

 3 A. There was a particular firefighter who was bringing in

 4 breathing apparatus, as I'd asked his station officer to

 5 instruct him to, and he came up just stating that we

 6 needed to get down there and we needed to get down there

 7 now.

 8 Q. Down to where?

 9 A. The platform area.

10 Q. So is that the pressure? The pressure was from FFS, the

11 firefighters?

12 A. Firefighters that is, "FFS".

13 Q. So there were pressures from a number of firefighters?

14 A. They're always in a crew of two when they go down with

15 breathing apparatus, but it was one was particularly

16 vocal.

17 Q. So one crew of two fire officers came up and said, "We

18 need to get down there into the tunnel"?

19 A. That's correct.

20 Q. What was the answer?

21 A. I said, "We're not going down yet. I need to get

22 further information on, firstly, what type of incident

23 it is as regards CBRN and, secondly, what our role is

24 going to be down there".

25 Q. Hindsight is a glorious and terrible thing, and I don't
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 1 want to place too much weight on it, but do you now, of

 2 course, having made those notes, having reflected,

 3 having seen the CCTV evidence, and now knowing more

 4 about, of course, what did occur, terribly, in the

 5 tunnel, reach the view that perhaps there was too great

 6 a passage of time before the Fire Brigade crews were

 7 committed into the tunnel?

 8 A. If I'd known at the time that there was not any chance

 9 of a dirty -- that it wasn't a dirty bomb, I would have

10 committed a recce crew virtually straightaway.

11 Q. To get in and see what they could do?

12 A. A reconnaissance crew, yes.

13 Q. And to inform you as to what the exact position was

14 below?

15 A. Yes.

16 MR KEITH: My Lady, I don't know if that is a convenient

17 point?

18 LADY JUSTICE HALLETT: Certainly. I'm sorry we have to

19 break off, Mr Davies, but if you can remember you're on

20 oath, so don't talk to anybody about your evidence after

21 lunch. We'll return at 2.05, please.

22 (1.05 pm)

23 (The short adjournment)

24

25
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